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FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 
This Annual Report includes certain forward-looking 
statements that have been based on current 
expectations about future acts, events and 
circumstances.  These forward-looking statements are, 
however, subject to risks, uncertainties and 
assumptions that could cause those acts, events and 
circumstances to differ materially from the expectations 
described in such forward-looking statements. 
 
These factors include, among other things, commercial 
and other risks associated with the meeting of 
objectives and other investment considerations, as well 
as other matters not yet known to the Group or not 
currently considered material by the Group.
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CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE FOR 2013 ANNUAL REPORT 

 

On behalf of the Board I am pleased to present to you the Annual Report of Bass Strait Oil Company 
(“BAS”) for the year ended 30

th
 June 2013. 

The Chief Executive Officer’s Report gives an excellent summary of the Company’s achievements during 
the year and an overview of our current Corporate Strategy together with a detailed description of the 
company’s exploration activities and the status of each our permits. 

Like all exploration companies without production revenue, we are currently reliant on farm-ins and 
capital raisings to fund exploration programs on our permits.   

Early in the year under review BAS successfully raised additional capital of just under $2 million before 
costs and expenses.  Bearing in mind the adverse market sentiment towards smaller companies 
involved in oil and gas exploration, this was a significant achievement.  Because of the continued media 
attention being drawn to a potential spike in gas prices on the East Coast of Australia, this adverse 
market sentiment would seem to be a result of an ongoing aversion to risk in the capital markets.  In 
connection with this capital raising Cooper Energy Ltd, through its wholly owned subsidiary Somerton 
Energy Ltd, acquired a 19.9% interest in the capital of BAS as a result of a placement prior to the capital 
raising and participation in the rights issue both by way of their entitlement and a partial underwriting.   

Cooper Energy is a well resourced oil and gas explorer and, following on from discussions during the 
financial year, it has executed farm-in agreements with BAS in July in connection with Gippsland Basin 
Permits Vic/P41 and Vic/P68.  BAS has been working to achieve farm-ins on our Gippsland Basin 
permits for some years and your Board believes that the arrangement with Cooper Energy is an 
excellent outcome for the Company.      

Shareholder approval for these farm-ins will be sought at the BAS Annual General Meeting.  The 
enclosed Notice of Meeting includes a Report of an Independent Expert which concludes that the 
proposed transactions are fair and reasonable to shareholders not associated with the proposed 
transactions.  I would urge you to read this report and, if you are unable to attend the meeting in 
person, to vote by proxy in favour of the resolution to approve the farm-ins.      

An in depth review of the most appropriate strategy for BAS to pursue in the future took place during 
the year.  As a part of this strategic review, management conducted a detailed assessment of our 
current permits and considered the best way to pursue on shore conventional oil and gas opportunities 
which extend the current focus of BAS on the Gippsland and Otway Basins.  Work is continuing in the 
identification and assessment of possible corporate and farm-in opportunities to achieve this objective. 

Shareholders will note from the financial statements that the result for the 2012/13 year was adversely 
impacted by legal expenses which totalled $623,578.  The majority of these legal expenses related to 
legal action initiated by a shareholder in the Federal Court in relation to the capital raising.  The need to 
apply significant expenditure and other resources of BAS to this action was most unfortunate as these 
funds and management time would have been far better employed in seeking value adding 
opportunities for your Company.         
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Subsequent to the end of the year under review Mr Jayme McCoy retired as a Director with effect from 
31

st
 July 2013.  Mr McCoy joined the Board in November 2011 and BAS has benefited from knowledge 

of the oil and gas industry.  Mr McCoy, who resides in the United States, will continue to pursue private 
interests focussing on oil and gas plays in that country.  On behalf of all shareholders I want to publicly 
thank Mr McCoy for his contribution to BAS and wish him well in the future.  Your Board considers that 
the current three member Board is appropriate to the Company at this time particularly when there is a 
strong need to minimise corporate expenditure. 

Your company is fortunate to have a loyal, competent and hard working management team and I want 
to acknowledge the appreciation of the Board and shareholders of their efforts during the last year.  

Finally I want to thank my fellow Directors for their diligent attention to the affairs of your Company 
and thank you, the shareholders, for your ongoing support. 

 

 

John L C McInnes 
Chairman 
21st October 2013        
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT 
 

Overview 

 
During the 2013 financial year, Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd („BAS‟ or „the Company‟) successfully concluded a 

number of important matters, including: 

 The Company placed 56.2 million shares at 1.5 cents per share to Somerton Energy Ltd, a wholly owned 

subsidiary of Cooper Energy Ltd for total proceeds of $843,089;  

 The Company raised approximately $1,110,603 through a fully underwritten non-renounceable entitlement 

issue of 74,040,192 shares; 

 A Technical Services Agreement was executed with Cooper Energy to provide access to additional 

commercial and technical expertise, as required; 

 The Company increased its participating interest in Vic/P41 from 45% to 64.565%; 

 Variations to work program commitments in Vic/P47 were granted; A re-assessment of the Judith gas 

resource in Vic/P47 was completed to incorporate new seismic inversion data; 

 The Vic/P66 Joint Venture parties formally agreed to withdraw from the permit; 

 Native Titles were resolved and permits PEP 167 and PEP 175, both in the Otway Basin, were awarded for 

a period of 5 years; 

 The Company signed a farm-in agreement with Somerton Energy (Cooper Energy) for a 15% interest in 

PEP 150; 

 The Company completed a review of its operations and corporate strategy.  It was decided to rationalize 

the existing portfolio and seek new onshore opportunities with Australia, New Zealand and Indonesia as 

areas of interest. 

 

A number of corporate opportunities were investigated during the year. The Company continued marketing farmout 
opportunities in several of the Gippsland Basin permits.  
 

Corporate Strategy 
 
During the year the Board and management completed a review the Company‟s operations and corporate strategy. 
The review encompassed the existing trend-focused acreage position in the Gippsland and Otway Basins and 
examined new opportunities and strategies. 
 
It was decided that the Company will seek to rationalize its existing portfolio in order to focus on those high impact 
targets providing maximum value to shareholders. Additionally, the Company will move beyond its traditional focus 
on exploration of the SE Australian Gippsland, Otway and Bass Basins. The Company will now seek new 
opportunities in onshore oil and gas plays in Australia, New Zealand and Indonesia. The Company intends to pursue 
farm-in and corporate opportunities in these regions with a view to building a balanced portfolio of production, 
appraisal and exploration opportunities with a weighting more towards shorter cycle, incremental growth. 

 

Exploration Projects 
 
An update of the exploration activities in each of our permits is as follows: 

 

GIPPSLAND BASIN OFFSHORE 

 

Vic/P47: BAS 40% and Operator 
 
Exploration permit Vic/P47 is located offshore approximately 10 km south of the Victorian town of Orbost. The permit 
comprises 202 km

2
 with water depths of up to 80 metres and contains the Judith and Moby gas discoveries. 

  
In 2Q 2013 a re-assessment of the Judith gas resource was completed by Gaffney Cline and Associates (GCA). 
This was an update of its previous 2008 assessment of Contingent Resources for the Judith discovery to incorporate 
new seismic inversion data. GCA stated that the seismic inversion processing enabled it to decrease the uncertainty 
in the Contingent Resource estimates. The seismic inversion data highlighted that structural and stratigraphic 
complexities may limit reservoir connectivity and in light of this the previous GCA High Case may no longer be valid. 
The gross contingent resources for the field were assessed as 1C-37, 2C-101, 3C-276 (Bscf). This was a 
downgrade from the previous assessment of 1C-48, 2C-194, 3C-934 (Bscf). 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 
The joint venture applied to the National Offshore Petroleum Titles Administrator for a Declaration of Locations over 
nominated blocks covering the Judith and Moby discoveries. The Judith application was not approved but the 
application over the smaller Moby area was approved. 
 
The Company has continued to actively seek farm-in partners to fund appraisal activity. While no offers have been 
received to date, evaluation and assessment is continuing. However, the approved work program for Year 4 requires 
the drilling of an exploration well, commencing on 16 November 2013. It has been decided that the Company should 
write off the capitalised exploration expenditure incurred to date, as the ability to retain this permit is in doubt, refer 
Note 14.  
 

 
 

 

Vic/P68: BAS 100% and Operator 

Exploration permit Vic/P68 lies to the east of Vic/P47 in the offshore Gippsland Basin with water depths increasing 
from 50 to 150 metres towards the southeast. This block comprises 1074 km

2
 and contains two primary play trends; 

the Rosedale Fault Trend and the Lake Wellington Fault Trend.  
 
In July 2013 the Company executed an agreement with Cooper Energy Limited for them to participate in exploration 
of the Vic/P68 permit. Under the terms of the agreement, Cooper Energy will undertake, at its sole cost, 
reprocessing and merging of multiple 3D datasets and selected QI/AVO analyses, including 255 sq km within 
Vic/P68. Subject to completion of the reprocessing and data interpretation, Cooper Energy will have the option to 
acquire a 50% interest in Vic/P68 at no further cost. BAS will be provided with a copy of all reprocessing work and 
studies undertaken by Cooper Energy. The agreement is subject to receiving Government approvals. 
 
The company is pleased to joint venture with Cooper Energy. They will bring significant technical and commercial 
expertise. This will assist us to develop an understanding of the sizeable gas prospects within the permit as we seek 
to mature them into drillable prospects.  

 

Vic/P41: BAS 64.565% and Operator 

 
Exploration permit Vic/P41 (539 km

2
) is located to the east of Vic/P68 in the offshore Gippsland Basin, 

approximately 40 kilometres south of the Victorian coast. The permit provides BAS with exposure to the easterly 
extension of proven producing trends. 
 
In 2Q 2013 Moby Oil and Gas Limited (MOG) exited from the permit and the Company‟s interest in the joint venture 
and permit was increased from 45% to 64.565%.  
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 

The joint venture reviewed the work program for the permit and decided not to proceed with the Stanton 3D seismic 
survey. It was agreed that a preferred program was to complete 430 sq km of 3D seismic reprocessing, fault seal 
and QI studies. The government supported this program and approved a work program variation request in July 
2013. 
 
Also in July 2013, the Company executed a farm-in agreement with Cooper Energy Limited to participate in Vic/P41. 
Under the terms of the agreement, Cooper Energy will undertake reprocessing and merging of multiple 3D datasets 
and selected QI/AVO analyses, including 430 sq km within the permit. Cooper will contribute funding for BAS‟s share 
of the work undertaken, with BAS to assign a 25.8% working interest in the permit to Cooper Energy.  
 
These studies are scheduled to be completed in 2Q 2014. 
 
The agreement remains subject to a number of conditions, including Government and Joint Venture approvals. In 
addition to these conditions, the agreement is subject to any applicable regulatory requirements under the 
Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules for transactions of this nature. 
 

Vic/P66: BAS 60% and Operator 

 
Exploration permit Vic/P66 (2,160 km

2
) is located to the southeast of Vic/P41 in the east of the offshore Gippsland 

Basin approximately 60 kilometres south of the Victorian coast. The permit covers a possible easterly extension of 
the Rosedale fault trend into a deep-water area of the basin. 
 
In 2Q 2013 the Vic/P66 joint venture partners applied to surrender the permit. It was agreed that exploration in the 
permit was unlikely to create value as it is in deep-water which significantly increases exploration costs and the 
identified leads have a high geological risk. 

 

Vic/P42: BAS 100% and Operator 

 
Vic/P42 comprises approximately 930 km

2
, and is located adjacent to Kingfish, Australia‟s largest oil field, as well as 

Bream and other producing Esso/BHP oil and gas fields.  
 
During the year a comprehensive review of the prospects and leads inventory within the permit was completed. The 
approved work program requires the drilling on one exploration well in Year 5 commencing on 18 September 2013.  
Farm out discussions were initiated during the financial year and have subsequently progressed, with the execution 
of a Collaboration Agreement, refer Note 30. 

 

OTWAY BASIN ONSHORE 

 

PEP 167: BAS 100% and Operator 

 

Exploration permit PEP 167 is located in the onshore Otway Basin, near Port Fairy in western Victoria. The permit 
comprises 408 km2.  
 
The permit was renewed effective from 18 April 2013 for a 5 year term with the Company relinquishing the western 
region of the permit. The eastern region primarily addresses the Casterton Formation unconventional play. Since 
award regional geological and geophysical studies have commenced. 
 

PEP 175: BAS 100% and Operator 

 

Exploration permit PEP 175 was granted for a 5 year term, effective from 18 April 2013. The permit is located in the 
onshore Otway Basin, to the east of PEP 150 and north of PEP 167. The permit comprises 1419 km2.  
 
The area lies in the central northern part of the Victorian sector of the basin, covering parts of the Tyrendarra 
Embayment, and the Koroit, Morenda and the Killara Troughs. The area has been interpreted to hold both 
conventional and unconventional trends, but primarily addresses the Casterton Formation unconventional play. 
Since award regional geological and geophysical studies have commenced. 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 

 
 

PEP 150: BAS 15% 

 

This permit of 3253 km
2 

is located near Portland and contains the 1989 Lindon and 1995 Digby oil discoveries. The 
permit has been subject to negotiation of Native Title for many years. Native Title Agreements were finalized in 2Q 
2013 and the permit has been granted subsequent to balance date, refer Note 30. The operator Beach Energy 
Limited will commence an exploration program. 
 
 

 
Terry White 
Chief Executive Officer 
26 September 2013 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 
The Directors present their report on the results of Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd consolidated entity (“BAS” or “the 
Company” or “the Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2013.  
 

DIRECTORS 
 
The names and details of the Company‟s directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report 
follow. Directors were in office for the entire period unless otherwise stated. 

 

John L C McInnes OAM BCom FCA - Chairman and non-executive independent director (Appointed 

1/10/2008) 
 
Mr McInnes holds an Economics and Commerce degree from the University of Melbourne and is a Chartered 
Accountant.  He was the founding partner of McInnes Graham & Gibbs, which in 2006 merged with Mutual Trust Pty 
Ltd, of which he is now a non-executive director.  Mr McInnes is also currently a director of a number of listed and 
unlisted companies including Haoma Mining NL Group. He was previously Chairman of Futuris Ltd and Deputy 
Chairman of Pacific Hydro Ltd.  
 
He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia and in 2007 he was awarded a Medal of 
the Order of Australia in recognition of his services to sport, business and the community. 
 
Mr McInnes served on the audit committee during the year.   
 
 

Andrew P Whittle BSc (Hons) - Non-executive independent director (Appointed 9/8/2011) Interim Managing 

Director (Appointed 13/8/2012, Resigned 19/12/2012) 
 
Mr Whittle has over 40 years experience in the petroleum exploration and production industries world wide, with a focus 
on SE Asia and Australia.  His experience includes over 21 years with several affiliates of Exxon Corporation, finally in 
the position of Geological Manager of Esso Australia. 
 
He is also currently Chairman of Central Petroleum Limited, a Director of Bumi Armada Sdn Bhd, a major offshore 
service company which listed in Malaysia in mid 2011 and a founding Director of Petroval Australasia Pty Ltd, as well as 
other unlisted companies. 
  
He is a member of the American Association of Petroleum Geologists and the Petroleum Exploration Society of 
Australia. 
 
Mr Whittle served on the audit committee during the year. 

 

 

David J Lindh OAM LLB – Non executive director (Appointed 25/11/2011) 

 
Mr Lindh has over 30 years experience as both a lawyer and company director. Mr Lindh is currently the Chairman 
of ASX listed Island Sky Australia Ltd and has been the Chairman of Enterprise Energy Ltd, Orca Petroleum Ltd and 
Centrex Metals Ltd.  
 
Mr Lindh is also currently Chairman of Adelaide Equity Partners Limited, a director of various other unlisted 
companies and a consultant with Minter Ellison lawyers in Adelaide. Mr Lindh was awarded a Medal of the Order of 
Australia in recognition of his services to business and equestrian sport. 
 
Mr Lindh served as Chair on the audit committee during the year. 

 

 

Jayme A McCoy – Non-executive independent director (Appointed 25/11/2011, Resigned 31/08/2013) 

 
Mr Jayme McCoy has over 25 years experience in the oil and gas industry and previously served as the Managing 
Director of ASX listed Sundance Energy Australia Ltd. During his time as MD of Sundance Energy, Mr McCoy was 
instrumental in a number of extremely successful transactions which took the market capitalisation of Sundance 
from $16 million to $166 million over a six year period. 
 
Mr McCoy has a detailed understanding of oil and gas geology and has extensive professional expertise in this 
sector acquired in North America with Freedom Energy Inc., Farmoil lnc. and Thomson Valley Gas Inc. 

 
Mr McCoy served on the audit committee during the year. 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 

INTERESTS IN THE SHARES & OPTIONS OF THE COMPANY 
 
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares and options of Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd 
were: 
 

 Number of Ordinary Shares Number of Options over Ordinary Shares 

     
J L C McInnes  1,500,000  - 
A P Whittle   466,666  - 
D J Lindh (a)  31,538,962  - 
J A McCoy (b)  500,000  - 
 
(a) Mr Lindh‟s interest includes 2,683,332 shares held directly and 28,855,630 shares held indirectly by a related 

party, South Australian Resource Investments Pty Ltd, a subsidiary of Adelaide Equity Partners Ltd. 
(b) Represents the interest held at the resignation date of 31/8/2013. 
 

COMPANY SECRETARY 
 
Mrs R Hamilton was appointed Company Secretary on the 31

st
 March 2011.  She has been a Chartered Accountant for 

over 20 years. 
 

DIVIDENDS 
 
During the year and to the date of this report, no dividends were recommended, provided for or paid. 

 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 
 
The principal activity during the year was exploration for oil and gas in onshore and offshore areas of south-eastern 
Australia.  This principal activity remains unchanged from the previous financial year.   The interests and exploration 
programs in which the Company has interests are not mature and should be regarded as highly speculative.  
 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 
 

Operating results for year 
 
The Company‟s operating loss for the year ended 30 June 2013 after income tax was $3,641,170 (2012: ($4,369,935))  
and reflects the write downs taken in several exploration permits.  
 
Administration Expenses for the year of $1,580,903 (2012: $756,475) , refer Note 4 were negatively impacted upon by 
legal action initiated by a shareholder on technical matters, in relation to the capital raising.  This action was ultimately 
unsuccessful.  Additionally, the Group incurred higher consultants‟ fees, including an interim General Manager while the 
recruitment of a new Chief Executive Officer was undertaken. 
   
The Company was the operator of seven exploration permits during the financial year.  Revenue amounted to $179,924 
(2012: $321,706) during this financial year. This decrease in revenue reflects increased time engaged in 100% owned 
and operated permits versus joint venture operated permits.  
 

Review of Operations 
 
During the financial year, the Company successfully concluded a number of important projects in its permits, 
including:  
 

 Native title was resolved and permits PEP 167 and PEP 175 in the onshore Otway Basin were renewed 
and awarded respectively; 

 Increasing the Company‟s interest in Vic/P41 from 45% to 64.6% by accepting a proportional assignment of 
Moby Oil & Gas‟s 25% interest; 

 Reassessment of the Judith gas resource in Vic/P47 

 Withdrawing from Vic/P66 in the offshore Gippsland Basin.  
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 

Review of Financial Condition 

 
Liquidity  
The Group‟s consolidated statement of cash flows for the year recorded an increase of $182,301 (2012: decrease 
of $139,502) in cash and cash equivalents.  The cash flows were derived from operating receipts of $699,425 
(2012: $344,880), other receipts of $108,906 (2012: $131,015) and capital raising net of transaction costs of 
$1,753,534 (2012: $2,202,170). 
  
Cash outflows relating to operations of $1,997,979 (2012: $1,177,908) exceeded the total operating inflows. There 
were also cash outflows in investing activities of petroleum expenditure and plant and equipment of $381,585 
(2012: $1,639,659). Cash assets at 30 June 2013 were $2,297,404 (2012: $2,115,103).  

 

CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 
 
Total equity decreased to $7,465,712 from $9,302,547, a decrease of $1,836,535.  The movement was the result of the 
operating loss for the year of $3,641,170 partially offset by capital raising of $1,753,534.   

 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS 
 
The likely developments in the Group‟s operations in future years and the expected result from those operations are 
dependent on exploration success in the permit areas in which the Group currently holds an interest and any new permit 
areas that may be acquired. 
 

FUTURE PROSPECTS AND RISKS 
 
The Group is exposed to a range of operational, financial and governance risks.  The Group has risk management and 
internal control systems in place to manage business risks.  
 

Business risks 

 

Exploration and drilling risks   
 
Petroleum exploration involves significant inherent risks in predicting the location and nature of potential petroleum 
accumulations in the sub-surface.  The Group cannot give any assurance that its exploration program will result in the 
discovery of any accumulation of oil or gas, nor that any discovery will be commercially viable or recoverable.  Risks in 
relation to drilling operations include break-downs, delays due to weather or sea conditions and shortages of critical 
equipment or materials.  There are also the financial and environmental risks of drilling incidents such as blow-outs, 
fires and oil spills.  The Group mitigates these risks via its safety and environmental policies, plans and procedures and 
will arrange appropriate insurances for particular risks.  All of these risks may materially affect the cost of drilling or other 
operations and adversely impact on any outcome from those operations. 
 
In the event that exploration programs prove to be unsuccessful, this will likely lead to: a diminution in the value of any 
of the Group‟s permits subject to such unsuccessful exploration activities; a reduction in the cash reserves of the Group 
by virtue of the costs of such activities; possible increased difficulty in raising additional funds following any such 
unsuccessful activity (particularly drilling); and possible relinquishment of permits. 
 

Discovery risks  
 
Any discovery may not be commercially viable or recoverable.  For a wide variety of reasons, not all discoveries are 
commercially producible. 

 

Contract risks 
 
The Group operates through a series of contractual relationships with operators, technical experts, project managers 
and contractors generally.  All contracts carry risks associated with the performance by the parties of their obligations as 
to time and quality of work performed.  Given that the Group is in joint ventures with various other parties and has, or 
may, enter into farm out agreements where its obligations are assumed by others, the incapacity of those joint venturers 
or farminees to meet contracted obligations would adversely affect the Group‟s capacity to carry out its own activities.    
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 

Regulatory risks   
 
Operations by the Group may require approvals from regulatory authorities which may not be forthcoming, either at all 
or in a timely manner, or which may not be able to be obtained on terms acceptable to the Group. While the Group can 
reasonably believe that all requisite approvals will be forthcoming, and whilst the Group‟s obligations for expenditure will 
be predicated on any requisite approvals being obtained, the Group cannot guarantee that any or all requisite approvals 
will be obtained.  A failure to obtain any approval would mean that the ability of the Group to participate in or develop 
any project, or possibly acquire any project, may be limited or restricted either in part or absolutely.   

 

Environmental compliance and risks 
 
In carrying out operations, the Group and its relevant Joint Venture participants are required to comply with the 
Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999 (Cwth) (“EPBC Act”) which specifies and regulates the 
environmental protections needed to be put in place by operators to avoid and minimise adverse environmental impact 
from those operations.   The EPBC Act sets out stringent conditions which operator must comply and imposes rigid 
conditions that must be met before operations can commence.  In the event of breaching any such conditions, the 
Group may be liable to prosecution and the imposition of penalties. 
 
Further, following cessation of any production from future operations, the Group will be required to participate in 
abandonment programs resulting from operations in which it participates, removal of disused plant and equipment and 
where necessary, restoration of the environment that has been disturbed in the course of operations.  The cost of that 
participation may be considerable if operations result in significant environmental liabilities being incurred.  In such a 
case, any allowance made for rehabilitation could possibly be inadequate. 
 

Funding risks 
 
Current market conditions make it difficult for the Group to raise capital.  The future growth of the Group is dependant on 
acquiring new opportunities and raising capital in an increasingly competitive and expensive market.  
 
Subject to the completion of the farm out agreements for Vic/P41 and Vic/P68, the Group has sufficient funds to 
meet all of its current committed work programs over the next twelve months as a minimum.  Adequacy and 
availability of funding will, for the immediate future remain a substantial issue for the Group and its Shareholders. 
The Group will, from time to time, likely need to raise additional capital to implement and complete its business 
plans and meet all work and planned and unexpected expenditure commitments on its permits. In the unlikely event 
that work program commitments can not be met, permits if not surrendered, can be cancelled by the relevant 
authorities. 
 
If the above mentioned additional funding is not raised, there is uncertainty regarding the ability of the Group to 
continue beyond September 2014 as a going concern, as set out in Note 2(c) of the financial report, the audit report 
contains an emphasis of matter paragraph in relation to going concern. 

 

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO BALANCE DATE 

 
On 31 July the Company announced that it had executed farm-in agreements for two of it‟s Gippsland Basin 
permits, Vic/P41 & Vic/P68, with Cooper Energy Ltd. Cooper Energy would be assigned a 25.8% interest in 
Vic/P41 and have the option to acquire a 50% interest in Vic/P68 in exchange for funding the Group‟s current work 
commitments. The agreement remains subject to a number of conditions, including Government and Joint Venture 
approvals. In addition to these conditions, the agreement is subject to any applicable regulatory requirements 
under the Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules for transactions of this nature. 
 
On 26 August 2013 the petroleum permit PEP 150 was awarded in the onshore Otway Basin.  BAS has a 15% 
interest in the new permit which is operated by Beach Petroleum Ltd. 
 
On 17 September 2013, the Company applied for a suspension and extension of the Year 4 work program with the 
National Offshore Petroleum Titles Administrator for Vic/P42.  This was in conjunction with the Company signing a 
Collaboration Agreement with HiRex Petroleum Sdn Bhd on18 August 2013 to progress further studies in Vic/P42, 
prior to committing to the Year 5 work program which includes drilling one exploration well.  
 

SHARE OPTIONS 

 

Unissued shares 
 
As at the date of this report, there were 10,000,000 unissued ordinary shares under options (12,000,000 at 30 June 
2012). There were no shares issued during the period from the exercise of options (2012: nil). Refer to the 
remuneration report for further details of shares under options.   
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 

INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

 
BAS maintains a directors and officers insurance policy and has paid an insurance premium for the policy.  The contract 
of insurance prohibits disclosure of the amount of the premium and the nature of the liabilities insured.  Pursuant to the 
constitution the Company has entered into Deeds of Indemnity with the Directors and Chief Executive Officer. 

 

DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

 
The number of meetings of directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the year and the 
number of meetings attended by each director was as follows:   
 

 Board Meetings Audit Committee 

 Held Attended Held Attended 
J L C McInnes 16 16 2 2 
A P Whittle 16 16 2 2 
D J Lindh 16 16 2 2 
J A McCoy 16 15 2 2 
 
 

REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (30 June 2013) 

 
This Remuneration Report outlines the director and executive remuneration arrangements of the Group in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations.  For the purposes of this report, key management personnel (KMP) 
of the Group are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
major activities of the Group, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether executive or otherwise) of the parent 
company, and includes executives in the Parent and the Group receiving the highest remuneration.  
 
For the purposes of this report, the term „executive‟ encompasses senior managers and secretaries of the Parent and 
Group. 
 

Details of Key Management Personnel (including executives of the Group) 

 
(i) Directors 
J L C McInnes Chairman 
A P Whittle Director (Non-executive), Interim Managing Director (Appointed 13 August 2012, Resigned 19 

December 2012) 
D J Lindh Director (Non-executive)  
J A McCoy Director (Non-executive) (Resigned 31 August 2013) 
 
(ii) Executives 
T White  Chief Executive Officer (Appointed 3 December 2012) 
J Remfry  General Manager (Contracted 8 August 2012 to 14 December 2012) 
S I Mackie Chief Executive Officer (Resigned 28 August 2012) 
R M Hamilton  Company Secretary   
 
Subsequent to the reporting date, Mr J A McCoy has resigned as of 31 August 2013. There have been no other 
changes to key management personnel  after 30 June 2013 and before the date the financial report was authorised for 
issue.  
 
The Board of Directors (“the Board”) is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration arrangements for the 
directors and executives. No remuneration consultant was engaged nor was any remuneration advice sought during the 
period. 
 
The Board assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of executives on a periodic basis by 
reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit 
from retention of a high quality, high performing executive team. 

 

Remuneration Philosophy 
 
The performance of the Company largely depends upon the quality of its directors and executives.  To prosper, the 
Company must attract, motivate and retain highly skilled directors and executives.   
 
To this end, the Company embodies the following principles in its remuneration framework: 

 Provide competitive rewards to attract high calibre executives; 

 Link executive rewards to shareholder value. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (30 June 2013) (continued) 

 

Remuneration Structure 

 
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive director and executive 
remuneration is separate and distinct. 

 

Non-Executive Director Remuneration  
 
Remuneration policy 
The Board seeks to set aggregate remuneration at a level that provides the Company with the ability to attract and 
retain directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost that is acceptable to shareholders.The amount of aggregate 
remuneration sought to be approved by shareholders and the fee structure is reviewed annually. The Board considers 
advice from external consultants if required, as well as the fees paid to non-executive directors of comparable 
companies when undertaking the annual review process. 
 
The Company‟s constitution and the ASX Listing Rules specify that the aggregate remuneration of non-executive 
directors shall be determined from time to time by a general meeting.  The latest determination was at the Annual 
General Meeting held on 3 October 2001, when shareholders approved an aggregate remuneration of $250,000 per 
year. 
 
Structure 
The remuneration of non-executive directors consists of director‟s fees and committee fees for the non-executive 
director who Chair‟s the Audit committee.  The payment of additional fees for chair of the Audit committee recognises 
the additional time commitment required by a non-executive director who chairs a sub-committee. The non-executive 
directors also receive retirement benefits in the form of superannuation. There are no other retirement benefits, other 
than superannuation. 
 
The table below summaries the non-executive director remuneration: 

 

 From 1 January 2013 Pre 1 January 2013 

Board fees   

Chairman $75,000 $60,000 
Directors $50,000 $40,000 
   

Incremental Audit Committee fees   

Chairman $5,000 $nil 
 
The Board‟s remuneration had not been increased since 1 September 2005. No other fees are paid for serving on 
Board committees or on boards of wholly owned subsidiaries.   
 
Non-executive directors have been encouraged by the Board to hold shares in the Company.   
 
The remuneration of non-executive directors for the period ending 30 June 2013 and 30 June 2012 is detailed in Table 
1 and 2 respectively of this Remuneration Report. 

 

Executive Remuneration 
 
Objective 
The Company aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration commensurate with their position and 
responsibilities within the Company so as to: 
 

 Reward executives for individual performance; 

 Align the interests of executives with those of shareholders; and 

 Ensure that total remuneration is competitive by market standards.   
 
Structure 
In determining the level and make-up of executive remuneration, the Board engages external consultants as needed to 
provide independent advice. No consultant was engaged in the current year. 
 
The Company has entered into a contract of employment with the Chief Executive Officer (commencing on 3 December 
2012) and standard contracts with other executives and consultants.  Details of these contracts are provided below. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (30 June 2013) (continued) 

 
Remuneration consists of the following key elements: 

 Fixed remuneration (base salary and superannuation) 

 Variable remuneration 
- Long term incentive (LTI) 

 
The proportion of fixed remuneration and variable remuneration (potential long term remuneration incentives) for each 
executive is set out in Table 1. 

 

Fixed remuneration 
 
Objective 
Fixed remuneration is reviewed regularly by the Board, with access to external advice if required.   

 
Structure 
Executives are given the opportunity to receive their fixed (primary) remuneration in a variety of forms including cash 
and superannuation.  It is intended that the manner of payment chosen will be optimal for the recipient without creating 
undue costs for the Company. 
 
The fixed remuneration component of executives is detailed in Table 1 
 

Variable remuneration – Long Term Incentives (LTI) 

 
Objective 
The objective of LTI plans is to reward executives in a manner that aligns remuneration with the creation of shareholder 
wealth.  
 
Structure 
LTI grants to executives are delivered in the form of share options under the Senior Executives and Officers Option 
Plan.  Share options may be granted to senior executives with more than 12 months service.  The share options may 
vest over a period.  There are no non-market performance conditions other than service criteria.  Executives are able to 
exercise the share options for up to 3 years after vesting before the share options lapse. 
 
As the Company‟s activities have been predominantly in petroleum exploration, shareholder wealth is dependent, for the 
foreseeable future, on exploration success rather than an improvement in the Company‟s earnings.   
 
The Company‟s share price is seen as a measure of exploration success and, accordingly, variable remuneration and 
LTI grants that existed during the 30 June 2013 financial year consisted of options over unissued shares in the 
Company.  During the year, the Company‟s share price had a highest sale price of 2 cents and a lowest sale price of 0.6 
cents.  The share price at 30 June 2013 was 0.6 cents (2012: 2 cents, 2011: 3 cents, 2010: 3 cents, 2009: 3 cents). 

 
Table 3 provides details of the value of options granted, exercised and lapsed during the year.  No grants have been 
made since 2011. 
 

Employment contracts 
  
Chief Executive Officer 
Mr T White was appointed Chief Executive Officer on 3 December 2012.  The CEO is employed under a rolling 
contract and under the terms of the contract, Mr White receives fixed remuneration of $350,000 per annum.  If there 
is cause for termination, the Company can terminate the contract immediately without compensation, other than any 
employee entitlements up to the date of termination.  Otherwise, the contract may be terminated at any time by 
either side giving two months notice in writing or by the Company paying two months salary in lieu of notice. In 
specified circumstances the CEO is entitled to receive a termination benefit of six months remuneration should a 
shareholder or a group of associated shareholders gain ownership of voting shares in the Company representing 
more than 50% of the total voting shares then on issue, within two years from 3 December 2012.  

 
Dr S Mackie was appointed Chief Executive Officer on 27 June 2011.  As CEO Dr Mackie was employed under a 
rolling contract and under the terms of the contract, he received fixed remuneration of $350,000 per annum. Dr 
Mackie resigned from his position, terminating the contract, and giving 2 months written notice, effective 28

th
 August 

2012.   
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (30 June 2013) (continued) 
 
General Manager 
Mr J Remfry was contracted for a maximum period of six months from 8 August 2012 following Dr Mackie‟s 
resignation.  Mr Remfry received remuneration on a daily basis at commercial rates. This arrangement was 
terminated by the Company giving Mr Remfry two weeks notice in writing once Mr White was appointed as CEO in 
December 2012. 
 

Payments applicable to outgoing executives 
 
The following arrangements applied to outgoing executives in office during the 2013 financial year: 

 Dr Mackie resigned with effect on 28 August 2012 and was not paid any termination benefits.  
 
The following arrangements applied to outgoing executives in office during the 2012 financial year: 

 There were none during the 2012 financial year.  

 

 

Remuneration of key management personnel 

 

Table 1: Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2013 

 

  

Short-term 

benefits 

 

Post 

employment 

Share-

based 

payments 

 

Long-term 

benefits 

 

 

 

Perform-

ance 

related 
       
  

Salary & 

fees 

 

Super-

annuation 

 

 

Options 

Long 

service 

leave 

 

 

Total 

 
 

       

 $ $ $ $ $ % 

Non-executive 

Directors 

      

J L C McInnes 67,500 6,075 - - 73,575 0.00% 
A P Whittle (a)  45,000 4,050 - - 49,050 0.00% 
D J Lindh  47,500 4,275 - - 51,775 0.00% 
J A McCoy (b) 49,050 - - - 49,050 0.00% 

Sub-total non-

executive directors 

 
209,050 

 
14,400 

 
- 

 
- 

 
223,450 

 
 

       

Other key 

management 

personnel 

      

S I Mackie (c) 76,288 4,167 - - 80,455 0.00% 
T White (d) 187,309 16,858 - - 204,167 0.00% 
J Remfry (e) 116,200 - - - 116,200 0.00% 
R M Hamilton  89,770 - - - 89,770 0.00% 
 

Sub-total other KMP 

 
469,567 

 
21,025 

 
- 

 
- 

 
490,592 

 

       

Totals 678,617 35,425 - - 714,042  

       
(a) Interim Managing Director Appointed 13 August 2012, Resigned 19 December 2012 
(b) Resigned 31 August 2013 
(c) Resigned 28 August 2012, refer table 3  
(d) Appointed 3 December 2012 
(e) Contracted 8 August 2012 to 14 December 2012 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (30 June 2013) (continued) 
 

Table 2: Remuneration for the year ended 30 June 2012 

 

  

Short-term 

benefits 

 

Post 

employment 

Share-

based 

payments 

 

Long-term 

benefits 

 

 

 

Perform-

ance 

related 
       
  

Salary & 

fees 

 

Super-

annuation 

 

 

Options 

Long 

service 

leave 

 

 

Total 

 
 

       

 $ $ $ $ $ % 

Non-executive 

Directors 

      

Non-executive 

Directors 

      

J L C McInnes 60,000 5,400 - - 65,400 0.00% 
H J Askin (a) 15,000 6,800 - - 21,800 0.00% 
J G Tuohy (b) - 17,535 - - 17,535 0.00% 
A P Whittle (c) 35,761 3,218 - - 38,979 0.00% 
D J Lindh (d) 24,022 2,162 - - 26,184 0.00% 
J A McCoy (d)  26,184 - - - 26,184 0.00% 

Sub-total non-

executive directors 

 
160,967 

 
35,115 

 
- 

 
- 

 
196,082 

 
 

       

Other key 

management 

personnel 

      

S I Mackie (e) 288,000 44,000 - - 332,000 0.00% 
R M Hamilton  60,800 - - - 60,800 0.00% 
 

Sub-total other KMP 

 
348,800 

 
44,000 

 
- 

 
- 

 
392,800 

 

       

Totals 509,767 79,115 - - 588,882  

 
(a) Resigned 31 December 2011 
(b) Resigned 25 November 2011 
(c) Appointed 9 August 2011 
(d) Appointed 25 November 2011 
(e) Resigned 28 August 2012 

 

 

Equity Instruments 

 

Table 3: Options awarded and vested during the year 

 

 

 

 

 

30 June 2013 

 

 

 

 

Year 

Options 

awarded 

during the 

year 

No. 

 

 

 

 

Award date 

Fair value 

per options 

at award 

date 

($) 

 

No. 

vested 

during 

year 

 

 

 

No. lapsed 

during year 

Other key 

management 

personnel 

      

S I Mackie (a) 2011 - 28 October 2011 $0.01 - 2,000,000 

 
(a) These options lapsed upon resignation.  

 
There were no alterations to the terms and conditions of options granted as remuneration since their grant date. 
 
No shares were issued as a result of options exercised during the year. 



  
  

- 16 - 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

 

HEALTH, SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT   
 
The Company has adopted an Environment Policy and a Safety Policy and conducts its operations in accordance with 
the APPEA Code of Environmental Practice 2008. 
 
The Company‟s petroleum exploration and development activities are subject to environmental conditions specified in 
the Offshore Petroleum and Greenhouse Gas Storage Act 2006, associated Regulations and Directions, as well as the 
Environment Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act 1999.  During the period there were no known contraventions 
by the Company of any relevant environmental regulations. 
 
The Company believes all injuries are avoidable and has policies and procedures to ensure employees and contractors 
manage safety accordingly.  There is a continuous process of monitoring and evaluating our procedures.  During the 
year there were no reported health and safety incidents. 
 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

 
The ASX Corporate Governance Council has issued “Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations” (the 
CGC Paper) requiring ASX listed companies to report their corporate governance practices against those principles and 
recommendations. 

 
The Board has elected that the Company adopt those principles and recommendations set out in the CGC Paper that 
are appropriate to a company of the size and stage of development of BAS. 
 

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE AND NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
 
The Directors have received the declaration from the auditor of Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd attached at page 17.   
 

Non-audit services 
The following non-audit services were provided by the entity‟s auditor, EY. The Directors are satisfied that the provision 
of non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations 
Act 2001. The nature and scope of each type of non-audit service provided means that auditor independence was not 
compromised.   
 
EY received the following amounts for the provision of non-audit services: 
 
Tax compliance services      $35,500 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors 
 

 
 
Chairman 
Melbourne, 26 September 2013 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

 
 
 

 

Ernst & Young 
8 Exhibition Street  
Melbourne  VIC  3000  Australia 
GPO Box 67 Melbourne  VIC  3001 

 Tel: +61 3 9288 8000 
Fax: +61 3 8650 7777 
ey.com/au 

 
 

 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of Bass Strait Oil 
Company Ltd 
 
In relation to our audit of the financial report of Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2013, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no contraventions of 
the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any applicable code of 
professional conduct. 
 

 
Ernst & Young 
 

 
Matthew A. Honey 
Partner 
26 September 2013 
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 
 

In accordance with a resolution of the directors of Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd, I state that: 

 

In the opinion of the directors: 

(a) the financial statements and notes of the consolidated entity, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including: 

 (i) giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity‟s financial position as at 30 June 2013 and it‟s 
performance for the year ended on that date; and 

 (ii) complying with Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable. 

 
(c) the financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by 

the International Accounting Standards Board. 
 
This declaration has been made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the directors in accordance 
with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the financial year ended 30 June 2013.  
 
On behalf of the Board 
 

 
 
Chairman  
Melbourne, 26 September 2013 



  
  

- 19 - 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 
 
Bass Strait Oil Company Limited (the Company) and the Company‟s Board of Directors (the Board) are committed to 
achieving and demonstrating the highest standards of corporate governance. It does this by ensuring that the 
Company complies with not only the letter of the many regulations and laws governing the Company‟s operations 
but also complies with the spirit and intention of those regulations and laws.  It is also committed to ensuring that the 
shareholders and the market are kept fully informed regarding the Company‟s operations and strategic direction.  
The Board continually reviews the framework and practices of the Company to ensure they meet the interests of 
shareholders. 
 
Good Corporate Governance is primarily dependent on the culture of the Company generally and the Board and 
Senior Management in particular.  Mere compliance with the ASX recommendations in itself however, will not 
necessarily result in good corporate governance.    
 
A description of the Company's main corporate governance practices are set out below.  
 
All of these practices, unless otherwise stated, were in place for the entire year.  They comply with the ASX 
Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations (including 2010 Amendments), unless otherwise stated. 

 

 

Principle 1: Laying Solid Foundations for Management and Oversight 

 

The Board of Directors 

 
The relationship between the Board and senior management is critical to the Company‟s long-term success.  The 
directors are responsible to the shareholders for the performance of the Company in both the short and the longer 
term and seek to balance sometimes competing objectives in the best interests of the Company as a whole.  Their 
focus is to enhance the interests of shareholders and other key stakeholders and to ensure the Company is properly 
managed. 

 

Role of the Board 
 
The Board has adopted a formal charter that details the functions and responsibilities of the Board. 
 
A copy of the Board Charter is available in the Corporate Governance section of the Company‟s website at 
www.bassoil.com.au. 
 
The Board‟s responsibilities include: 

 Providing leadership of the Company; 

 Ensuring that the Company has effective processes and systems; 

 Setting, overseeing and maintaining the Company's values, corporate governance framework; 

 Safeguarding the reputation of the Company; 

 Ensuring there is an effective balance of responsibility between the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and the 
Board; 

 Ensuring necessary financial and human resources are available ensuring that the performance of 
management, and the Board itself, is regularly assessed and monitored; 

 Promoting a culture where transparent and timely information is shared between management and the 
Board; 

 Ensuring effective communication with shareholders; and 

 Appointing, reviewing the performance of, and terminating the Chief Executive Officer. 

 

Matters Specifically Reserved For The Board 

 
The Board has reserved for itself the following matters, which are in addition to any matters expressly required by 
law or other regulation to be approved by the Directors: 

 Approving annual operating plans (including objectives, goals and strategies) and regularly reviewing 
achievement against plan. 

 Approving capital requirements.  

 Delegating certain authorities to management and monitoring the exercise of these authorities.  

 Approving remuneration of the Board and CEO.  

 Approving capital structure and dividend policy. 

 Approving half yearly and full year accounts, the annual report, and related reports to ASX and regulatory 
authorities. 

 Considering management proposals, including material capital expenditure and divestments and providing 
advice and approvals where appropriate.  

http://www.bassoil.com.au./
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 Maintaining corporate and Board values to ensure the Company acts with the highest ethical standards and 
integrity in accordance with all legal and regulatory requirements and otherwise in accordance with those 
management and government best practices appropriate to its business. 

 Approving and monitoring compliance with the Company‟s policies, charters and codes. 

 

Relationship between Directors and Management 
 
Subject to the Company‟s Constitution and matters specifically reserved for the Directors, the Directors delegate 
responsibility for day-to-day management of the Company to the Chief Executive Officer.  The non-executive 
Directors do not participate in the day to day affairs or management of the Company. 

 

Senior Executive Performance 

 
All direct reports of the Chief Executive Officer are evaluated by the Chief Executive Officer and the performance 
evaluation of the Chief Executive Officer is facilitated by the Chairman, with ultimate oversight by the Board. The 
evaluation of the Chief Executive Officer involves an assessment of a range of factors including the overall 
performance of the Company and the achievement of specific pre-determined goals. 
 
During the reporting period, a performance evaluation of senior executives (including the Chief Executive Officer) 
has taken place in accordance with this process.   

 

Principle 2: Structure the Board to add value 

 
The Board operates in accordance with its charter which is available from the Corporate Governance section of the 
Company website at www.bassoil.com.au.  
 
The charter details the Board‟s composition and responsibilities. 

 

Board Size 

 
The Company‟s Constitution includes provisions for the number of Directors and the appointment and retirement of 
directors. 
 
The Company‟s Constitution specifically provides that the Company is to have not less than three and the maximum 
number of directors is to be fixed by the directors, but may not be more than ten directors, unless the Company in 
general meeting resolves otherwise. 
 
A copy of the Company‟s Constitution is made publicly available in the corporate governance section of the 
Company‟s website at www.bassoil.com.au. 
 

Board Composition 

 
The Company‟s Board Charter provides that the Board should comprise Directors with an appropriate range of skills, 
experience and expertise who have a proper understanding of and competence to deal with the current and 
emerging issues of the business, and who can effectively review and challenge the performance of management 
and exercise independent judgment. 
 
The current members of the Board and their skills, experience, expertise, qualifications, term of office, relationships 
affecting independence, their independent status and membership of committees are set out in the Directors‟ Report 
under the heading „‟Information on directors‟‟. 

 
At the date of this report, the Board consists of 3 Directors (a majority of which are Independent Directors), 
comprising:  

 2 independent non-executive directors; and 

 1 non-independent non-executive director. 
 
The Board comprises the following directors (as at 26 September 2013): 
 

Name Position  First Appointed 

Mr J L C McInnes   Chairman, non-executive Director 
and independent. 

1 October 2008 

Mr A P Whittle 
 

Non-executive Director and 
independent 

9 August 2011 

Mr D J Lindh Non-executive Director  25 November 2011 

http://www.bassoil.com.au/
http://www.bassoil.com.au./
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Independence of Directors 
 
All directors, whether independent or not, are required to act in the best interests of the Company and to exercise 
unfettered and independent judgment. 
 
The independence of each of the Non-Executive Directors is reviewed, at least annually. 
 
In assessing the independence of Directors, the Board has regard to the provisions of the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council, ‘Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations‟ (2

nd
 ed). 

 
The Company defines an independent Director as a non-executive director (i.e. not a member of management) who 
is free of any business or other relationship that could materially interfere with or could reasonably be perceived to 
materially interfere with the exercise of his or her unfettered and independent judgment and ability to act in the best 
interests of the Company. 

 
In assessing each Director‟s independence the Board will consider the effect of a Director‟s business and other 
relationships and interests from the perspective of both the Company and the Director. 

 
The Board may determine that a Director is independent notwithstanding the existence of a relationship of the kind 
referred to above. 

 

Board members 

 
It is considered that all Non-Executive Directors are independent except Mr D J Lindh for the reasons set out below. 
 
Mr Lindh, a non-executive director, is a non-executive director and Chairman of Adelaide Equity Ltd which is an 
advisor to the Company.  Accordingly, he is not considered to be an independent Director.   

  

Appointment & re-election of Board members 
 
The Company‟s Board Charter provides that in selecting new members for the Board, Directors shall have regard to 
the appropriate skills and characteristics needed by the Board as a whole and that Directors shall endeavour to 
appoint individuals who would provide the mix of characteristics and diverse experiences, perspectives and skills 
appropriate for the Company. 

 

Term of office 

 

The Company‟s constitution specifies that all non‐executive directors must retire from office no later than the third 

annual general meeting (AGM) following their last election. Where eligible, a director may stand for re‐election. 
 

Role of the Chairman 

 
The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are separate and the Chairman is a non-executive Director. 
 
The role of the Chairman includes being responsible for managing the Board effectively, providing leadership to the 
Board and being the interface with the Chief Executive Officer. 
 
The Chairman has the authority to act and speak for the Board and liaise with the Company‟s stakeholders between 
meetings, subject to any agreed consultation processes. 

 

Role of the Chief Executive Officer 

 
The Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for the day-to-day management of the Company, providing leadership 
and managing and overseeing the interfaces between the Company and the public and to act as the principal 
representative for the Company. 
 
The Chief Executive Officer must report annually to the Board on succession planning and management 
development. 
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Induction 

 
The induction provided to new directors and senior managers enables them to actively participate in Board decision-
making as soon as possible.  It ensures that they have a full understanding of the Company‟s financial position, 
strategies, operations, culture, values and risk management policies. It also explains the respective rights, duties, 
responsibilities, interaction and roles of the Board and senior executives and the Company‟s meeting arrangements.  

 

Board Meetings 
 
Meeting and proceedings of the Board are governed by the relevant provisions of the Company‟s Constitution. 
 
The Company‟s Board Charter also provides: 

 The Directors shall hold at least six meetings in each calendar year.  

 The agenda for meetings is drawn up with input from the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer and 
senior executives. Directors are free to nominate matters for inclusion on the agenda for each meeting.  

 Material for Board meetings is circulated to the directors in advance.  

 All members of the Board are expected to attend each meeting, in person, except for Mr McCoy who is a 
non-resident.  He is expected to attend at least one meeting in person each year.  

 The Board may invite such persons as it wishes to attend its meetings.  

 The Board may conduct meetings by telephone or internet conferencing.  

 Circular resolutions which have been approved must be noted at the Board meeting immediately following 
their approval. 

 
The number of Board and Board Committee meetings held during the year and attendance by Directors is set on 
page 11 of this report. 

 

Director conduct 

 
When exercising their powers and responsibilities as Directors, and when acting as a representative of the 
Company, Directors are expected to comply with all relevant laws and regulations and abide by the Company‟s 
Code of Conduct. 
 
A copy of the Company‟s „Code of Conduct‟ is made publicly available in the Corporate Governance section of the 
Company‟s website at www.bassoil.com.au. 
 

Conflict and declaration of interests 

 
Directors are required to take all reasonable steps to avoid actual, potential or perceived conflicts of interests. 
 
The Corporations Act 2001 and the Company‟s Constitution requires Directors to disclose any conflicts of in terest 
and, in certain circumstances, to abstain from participating in any discussion or voting on matters in which they have 
a material personal interest. 
 
It is expected that Directors will be sensitive to actual and perceived conflicts of interest that may arise and it is 
something to which they are expected to give ongoing consideration. 
 
Entities connected with the directors that had business dealings with the Company during the year, are described in 
Note 24 to the financial statements. In accordance with the Board Charter, the directors concerned declared their 
interests in those dealings to the Company and took no part in decisions relating to them or the preceding 
discussions. In addition, those directors did not receive any papers from the Company pertaining to those dealings. 

 

Independent professional advice 
 
The Board and individual directors have the right, in connection with their duties and responsibilities, to seek 
independent professional advice at the Company‟s expense. Prior written approval of the Chairman is required, but 
this will not be unreasonably withheld. 

 

Performance of the Board, its Committees and individual Directors 

 
The Company‟s Board Charter provides that the „The Board will conduct a review of its performance relative to this 
charter annually, and the Chairman will review the performance of each Director annually.‟ 
The process for evaluation of performance of the Board, Board Committees and individual Directors involves: 

http://www.bassoil.com.au./
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Board and Board Committees 
The evaluation of the Board performance involves a self assessment by the Board at the end of the year.   Because 
of the size of the Board and the Company all Members of the Board are Members of the Board Committees and this 
self assessment process incorporates the performance of Board Committees.   
 
Directors 
Assessment of individual Directors‟ performance is a process determined by the Chairman and involves the 
Chairman having an annual interview with each of the Directors.  
 
During the reporting period, a performance evaluation of the Board, its Committees and Directors has taken place in 
accordance with this process.  

 

Board Committees 

 
The Board has established the following Board Committee to assist it in the discharge of its responsibilities: 

 Audit Committee. 
 
The Audit Committee operates under a formal charter that is made publicly available in the Corporate Governance 
section of the Company‟s website at www.bassoil.com.au.  An outline of the responsibilities of the Audit Committee 
is also contained within this Statement.  

 

Nomination committee 
 
Given the Company‟s size, limited activities and limited financial resources, the Board has not established a 
Nomination Committee. 
 
Issues relating to developing criteria for Board membership, identifying specific individuals for nomination and 
establishing processes for the review of the performance of individual directors and the Board as a whole is 
undertaken by the Board. 
 

Principle 3: Promote ethical and responsible decision making 

 

Code of conduct 
 
The Company has developed a Code of Conduct (the Code) which has been fully endorsed by the Board and 
applies to all directors, officers and employees of the Company.   
 
The Code is regularly reviewed and updated as necessary to ensure it reflects the highest standards of behaviour 
and professionalism and the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company‟s integrity and to take into 
account legal obligations and reasonable expectations of the Company‟s stakeholders. 
 
In summary, the Code requires that at all times all Company personnel maintain high standards of honesty and 
responsibility and enhance thee Company‟s reputation for fair and responsible dealing.  
 
The Code is documented and made publicly available in the Corporate Governance section of the Company‟s 
website at www.bassoil.com.au. 
 

Restrictions on dealing in securities  

 
The Company has a Share Trading Policy which outlines the restrictions, closed periods and processes required 
when directors, Chief Executive Officer and key management personnel trade Company securities.  
 
The Share Trading Policy is documented and made publicly available in the Corporate Governance section of the 
Company‟s website at www.bassoil.com.au. 
 

Approach to Diversity 

 
The Company has established a Diversity Policy which is publicly available in the Corporate Governance section of 
the Company‟s website at www.bassoil.com.au. 
 
The policy includes requirements for the Board to establish measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and 
for the Board to assess annually both the objectives and progress in achieving them. 
 

http://www.bassoil.com.au./
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While the Board is committed to the objectives of the Diversity Policy it has determined that because of the size of 
the company and the small number of Directors and employees, it is not appropriate to set measurable objectives 
for gender diversity, at this stage of the Company‟s development. 
 
The proportion of women employees in the Company, women in senior executive positions and women on the Board 
are: 
 

Management Levels Percentage held by Women 

Company 60% 

Senior Executives 50% 

Board 0% 

 

Principle 4: Safeguard integrity in financial reporting 

 
The Audit Committee consists of the following non-executive directors: 

Mr Lindh (Non-Independent) - Chairman 
Mr McInnes (Independent)  
Mr Whittle (Independent) 

 
Mr D Lindh is Chair of the Audit Committee. Although he is a non-independent Director, he has considerable 
management & business experience and is the most appropriate person on the Board for this role. The Board 
considers that given the size of the Company and the relevant experience of Board Members, it is not necessary for 
the Audit Committee to be chaired by an independent Chairman.  
 
Details of these directors' qualifications, the number of meetings of the Audit Committee held and Director‟s 
attendance at these meetings are detailed in the Directors' report on page 11. 
 
The Audit Committee operates in accordance with a charter which is publicly available in the Corporate Governance 
section of the Company‟s website at www.bassoil.com.au. 
 

Membership 

 
The members of the Committee shall be members of, and appointed by, the Board of directors and shall comprise at 
least two directors that have diverse, complementary backgrounds, and are independent of management and the 
Company.  
 
In addition, the Committee chair shall have leadership experience and a strong finance, accounting and/or business 
background. 
 
All Committee members shall be financially literate, or become financially literate within a reasonable period of time 
after appointment.  At least one member shall have accounting and/or related financial management expertise as 
determined by the Board of directors. 
 
The responsibilities of the Committee include: 

 Understanding the business; 

 Financial Reporting - review and approve the half-year and annual financial report; 

 Assessment of accounting, financial and internal controls;  

 Appointment of external auditor;  

 Review and assess the independence of the external auditor;  

 Discuss with the auditors, the overall scope of the audit; 

 Monitor corporate governance functions; and  

 Review and discuss communications with the market and shareholders. 

 
In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Audit Committee will: 

 Maintain free and open communication between the committee, auditors, and management of the 
Company.  

 Investigate any matter brought to its attention with full access to all books, records, facilities, and personnel 
of the Company.  

 Ensure it understands the Company's structure, controls, and types of transactions in order to adequately 
assess the significant risks faced by the Company in the current environment‟  

 Take appropriate actions to set the overall corporate 'tone' for quality financial reporting, sound business 
risk practices, and ethical behaviour.   

http://www.bassoil.com.au./
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 Meet separately and periodically with management and the auditor to discuss issues and concerns 
warranting committee attention, including but not limited to their assessments of the effectiveness of 
internal controls and the process for improvement; and  

 Receive regular reports from the auditor on the critical policies and practices of the Company, and all 
alternative treatments of financial information within generally accepted accounting principles that have 
been discussed with management. 

 
The Audit Committee has authority, within the scope of its responsibilities, to seek any information it requires from 
any employee or external party. 
 

External auditors 

 
The Company and Audit Committee policy is to appoint external auditors who clearly demonstrate quality and 
independence.  
 
The performance of the external auditor is reviewed annually and applications for tender of external audit services 
are requested as deemed appropriate, taking into consideration assessment of performance, existing value and 
tender costs.  
 
EY was appointed as the external auditor in 2001. It is EY‟s policy to rotate audit engagement partners on listed 
companies at least every five years, and in accordance with that policy a new audit engagement partner was 
introduced for the year ended 30 June 2011.   
 
An analysis of fees paid to the external auditor, including a break-down of fees for non-audit services, is disclosed in 
Note 7 to the financial statements. It is the policy of the external auditors to provide an annual declaration of their 
independence to the Audit Committee. 
 
The external auditor will attend the annual general meeting and be available to answer shareholder questions about 
the conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the audit report. 
 

Written Affirmations 

 
The Board has received from the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer written affirmations 
concerning the Company‟s financial statements as set out in the Directors‟ Declaration on page 18. 

 

Principle 5 – Make Timely and Balanced Disclosure 

 
The Board has established procedures designed to ensure compliance with the ASX Listing Rule requirements such 
that:  

 All investors have equal and timely access to material information concerning the Company, including its 
financial position, performance, ownership and governance; and 

 Company announcements are factual and presented in a clear and balanced way. 
 
The Company Secretary and the Chief Executive Officer are responsible for communications with the ASX. The 
Chairman or a member of the Audit Committee authorises all disclosures necessary to ensure compliance with ASX 
Listing Rules. 

 

Principle 6 - Respect the Rights of Shareholders 

 
The Board has established a process for communicating with shareholders by: 

 Using the Company‟s website to promote and to facilitate shareholder communications; 

 Encouraging shareholder participation in meetings including using Corporate Governance Council 
guidelines for meetings and notices, and placing all shareholder related information and Company ASX 
announcements promptly onto the website in an accessible manner; and 

 Encouraging shareholders to attend the annual general meeting, and providing adequate time, to question 
the Directors about the Company‟s governance and business, and the auditor about the conduct of the 
audit and the content of the audit report. 

 
The Company‟s website www.bassoil.com.au currently carries the following information for Shareholders: 

 All market announcements and related information which is posted immediately after release to the ASX; 

 Details relating to the Company‟s Directors and Senior Management; and  

 Board and Board Committee charters and other corporate governance documents. 

 

http://www.bassoil.com.au/
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Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk 

 
The Board is responsible for overseeing the effectiveness of risk management so as to: 

 Identify, assess, monitor and manage risk; and  

 Inform investors of the nature of and material changes to the Company‟s risk profile. 
 
Given the size of Bass Strait Oil, the Board of Directors does not consider it appropriate to have separate risk 
management and control systems designed by management which are reported to the Board of Directors. 
 
The inherent nature of petroleum exploration is high-risk with no certainty of success. However, the Company takes 
all prudent analytical and planning steps to control risk. Apart from the geological risk, material business risks 
include those of a financial, operational, environmental technological nature. Existing policies and procedures for 
risk oversight are considered by the Board to be adequate at this stage of the Company‟s development. 
 
At each major milestone of exploration projects, specific risk oversight and management policies will be developed 
consistent with activities at that time. 
 
The Board has received assurances from the Chief Executive Officer, Company Secretary and Chief Financial 
Officer that the declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 is founded on a 
sound system of risk management and internal control that, in all material respects, mitigates financial reporting 
risks. 

 

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and responsibly 

 

Remuneration committee 
 
Given the Company‟s size, limited activities and limited financial resources, the Board has not established a 
Remuneration committee. Issues relating to remuneration, recruitment, retention and termination policies and 
procedures applicable to senior executives and directors and also the selection and appointment practices of the 
Company are undertaken by the Board. 
 

Remuneration arrangements 
 
Board and Non-executive Director 
The remuneration policy for the Board and the remuneration of each director is set out in both the Remuneration 
Report which forms part of the Directors‟ report and in Note 24 in the Financial Report. 

 
Senior Executives  
Information on the performance evaluation and structure of remuneration for the Company‟s senior executives can 
be found in the Remuneration Report, which forms part of the Directors‟ report. 
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  Consolidated 
 Note 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Management services arising as operator  
of petroleum exploration joint ventures 

  
179,924 

 
321,706 

Revenue  179,924 321,706 

    

Other income    

Interest   115,158 129,764 
Government Research & Development Grant  - 514,745 

Total Income  295,082 966,215 

    
Administrative expenses 4 (1,580,903) (756,475) 
Depreciation and amortisation 5 (136,819) (30,540) 
Employee benefits expense 6 (409,459) (381,605) 
Exploration expenditure incurred  (6,990) (14,644) 
Exploration costs impaired and written off 14 (1,751,280) (4,114,095) 

Loss before income tax  (3,590,369) (4,331,144) 

    
Income tax expense 8 (50,801) (38,791) 

 
Net loss for the period 

  
(3,641,170) 

 
(4,369,935) 

    
Other comprehensive income  - - 

    
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period  (3,641,170) (4,369,935) 

    
    
    
Basic (loss)/earnings per share 22 ($0.007) ($0.012) 
    
Diluted (loss)/earnings per share 22 ($0.007) ($0.012) 

    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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  Consolidated 
 Note 2013 2012 
  $ $ 

ASSETS    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 9 2,297,404 2,115,103 
Trade and other receivables 10 12,449 522,434 
Other current assets 11 41,348 33,373 

Total current assets  2,351,201 2,670,910 

    

Non-current assets    

Plant and equipment 12 29,505 43,089 
Intangible assets 13 1,000 124,251 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure 14 5,217,257 6,587,209 

Total non-current assets  5,247,762 6,754,549 

 

TOTAL ASSETS 

  
7,598,963 

 
9,425,459 

    
    

LIABILITIES    

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 16 110,122 98,855 
Provisions 17 14,692 24,057 

Total current liabilities  124,814 122,912 

    

Non-current liabilities    
Other payables  8,437 - 

Total non-current liabilities  8,437 - 

     

TOTAL LIABILITIES  133,251 122,912 

    

 

NET ASSETS 

  

7,465,712 

 

9,302,547 

    
    

EQUITY    

Contributed equity 19 30,913,043 29,108,708 
Accumulated losses 20 (23,524,722) (19,883,552) 
Share-based payments reserve 21 77,391 77,391 

 

TOTAL EQUITY 

  

7,465,712 

 

9,302,547 

    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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  Consolidated 
  

 

Note 

 

Contributed 

equity 

 

Accumulated losses 

Share-

based 

payments 

 

 

Total 
  $ $ $ $ 

At 1 July 2012  29,108,708 (19,883,552) 77,391 9,302,547 

      

Net loss for the period  - (3,641,170) - (3,641,170) 

Total comprehensive 

income for the period 

  
- 

 
(3,641,170) 

 
- 

 
(3,641,170) 

      

Transactions with owners 

in their capacity as 

owners: 

     

Shares issued 19 1,953,692 - - 1,953,692 
Transaction costs on share 
issues 

19 (200,158) - - (200,158) 

Income tax on items 
recognised directly in equity 

 
8 

 
50,801 

 
- 

 
- 

 
50,801 

 

At 30 June 2013 

  
30,913,043 

 
(23,524,722) 

 
77,391 

 
7,465,712 

      
      

At 1 July 2011  26,945,138 (15,513,617) - 11,431,521 

      

Net loss for the period  - (4,369,935) - (4,369,935) 

Total comprehensive 

income for the period 

  
- 

 
(4,369,935) 

 
- 

 
(4,369,935) 

      

Transactions with owners 

in their capacity as 

owners: 

     

Shares issued 19 2,425,234 - - 2,425,234 
Transaction costs on share 
issues 

19 (300,455) - - (300,455) 

Share-based payments 21 - - 77,391 77,391 
Income tax on items 
recognised directly in equity 

 
8 

 
38,791 

 
- 

 
- 

 
38,791 

 

At 30 June 2012 

  
29,108,708 

 
(19,883,552) 

 
77,391 

 
9,302,547 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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  Consolidated 
 Note 2013 2012 
  $ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Receipts from customers  699,425 344,880 
Payments to suppliers and employees inclusive of GST  (1,997,979) (1,177,908) 
Interest received  108,906 131,015 

Net cash flows used in operating activities  28 (1,189,648) (702,013) 

    

Cash flows from investing activities    

Purchase of fixed assets  (4,505) (27,909) 
Petroleum exploration expenditure  (377,080) (1,611,750) 

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (381,585) (1,639,659) 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

Proceeds from issue of shares  1,953,692 2,425,234 
Transaction costs on issue of shares  (200,158) (223,064) 

Net cash flows from financing activities  1,753,534 2,202,170 

    
    
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  182,301 (139,502) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  2,115,103 2,254,605 

 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 

 
9 

 

2,297,404 

 

2,115,103 

    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

 

Note 1. Corporate Information 
 
The financial report of Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd (the Group, being the Company and its controlled entity) for the 
year ended 30 June 2013 was authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the directors on 26 September 
2013.   
 
Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd is a company limited by shares incorporated in Australia whose shares are publicly 
traded on the Australian Stock Exchange.   
 
The nature of the operations and principal activities of the Group are oil and gas exploration.   
 
 

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
 

Basis of Preparation 
 
The financial report is a general-purpose financial report of a „for-profit‟ entity which has been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, Australian Accounting Standards and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.  The financial report has been 
prepared on an historical cost basis. 
 
The financial report is presented in Australian dollars.   
 

(a) Compliance with IFRS 
 

The financial report complies with Australian Accounting Standards and International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
 

(b) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations 

 
(i)  Changes in accounting policy and disclosures. 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows: 
 
The Group has adopted the following new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and AASB Interpretations 
as of 1 July 2012. 
 

 AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Other Comprehensive 
Income 

 
The adoption of the standards or interpretations is described below: 
 

AASB 2011-9 Presentation of Other Comprehensive Income 
This standard requires entities to group items presented in other comprehensive income on the basis of whether 
they might be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss and those that will not.  The adoption of the amendment did 
not have any impact on the financial position or performance of the Group. 
 
Other new and amended Australian Accounting Standards and AASB interpretations were not relevant to the Group. 
 
(ii) Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued but not yet effective 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet 
effective and have not been adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ending 30 June 2013, are outlined 
in the table following: 
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Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

(b) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued) 
 

Reference Title Summary Application 

date of 

standard 

Impact on the 

Group 

financial 

report 

Application 

date for the 

Group 

AASB 9 Financial 
Instruments 

AASB 9 includes requirements for the 
classification and measurement of 
financial assets resulting from the first 
part of Phase 1 of the IASB‟s project to 
replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement (AASB 
139 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement).  

These requirements improve and 
simplify the approach for classification 
and measurement of financial assets 
compared with the requirements of 
AASB 139.  

Further amendments were made by 
AASB 2012-6 which amends the 
mandatory effective date to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2015. AASB 2012-6 also 
modifies the relief from restating prior 
periods by amending AASB 7 to require 
additional disclosures on transition to 
AASB 9 in some circumstances. 

Consequential amendments were also 
made to other standards as a result of 
AASB 9, introduced by AASB 2009-11 
and superseded by AASB 2010-7 and 
2010-10. 

1 January 2015. This standard 
may change the 
disclosures 
currently made 
in the Group‟s 
financial report 
but will have no 
significant 
impact on the 
amounts 
recognised in 
the financial 
statements.  

1 July 2015.  

AASB 10 Consolidated 
Financial 
statements 

AASB 10 establishes a new control 
model that applies to all entities.  It 
replaces parts of AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements dealing with the accounting 
for consolidated financial statements.  

The new control model broadens the 
situations when an entity is considered 
to be controlled by another entity and 
includes new guidance for applying the 
model to specific situations, including 
when acting as a manager may give 
control, the impact of potential voting 
rights and when holding less than a 
majority voting rights may give control.   

Consequential amendments were also 
made to other standards via AASB 
2011-7 and AASB 2012-10. 

1 January 2013 The impact of 
this standard 
has not yet been 
determined, and 
the Group plans 
to fully assess 
its impact in the 
coming year but 
believes it is 
unlikely to have 
a material 
impact on the 
amounts 
recognised in 
the financial 
statements. 

1 July 2013 
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Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

(b) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued) 
 

Reference Title Summary Application 

date of 

standard 

Impact on the 

Group 

financial 

report 

Application 

date for the 

Group 

AASB 11 Joint 
arrangements 

AASB 11 replaces AASB 131 Interests 
in Joint Ventures and UIG-113 Jointly- 
controlled Entities – Non-monetary 
Contributions by Ventures. AASB 11 
uses the principle of control in AASB 10 
to define joint control, and therefore the 
determination of whether joint control 
exists may change. In addition it 
removes the option to account for jointly 
controlled entities (JCEs) using 
proportionate consolidation. Instead, 
accounting for a joint arrangement is 
dependent on the nature of the rights 
and obligations arising from the 
arrangement. Joint operations that give 
the venturers a right to the underlying 
assets and obligations themselves is 
accounted for by recognising the share 
of those assets and obligations.  Joint 
ventures that give the venturers a right 
to the net assets is accounted for using 
the equity method.   
 
Consequential amendments were also 
made to other standards via AASB 
2011-7, AASB 2012-10 and 
amendments to AASB 128. 

1 January 2013 The impact of 
this standard 
has not yet been 
determined, and 
the Group plans 
to fully assess 
its impact in the 
coming year but 
believes it is 
unlikely to have 
a material 
impact on the 
amounts 
recognised in 
the financial 
statements. 

1 July 2013 

AASB 12 Disclosure of 
Interests in 
Other Entities 

AASB 12 includes all disclosures 
relating to an entity‟s interests in 
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 
associates and structures entities. New 
disclosures have been introduced about 
the judgments made by management to 
determine whether control exists, and to 
require summarised information about 
joint arrangements, associates and 
structured entities and subsidiaries with 
non-controlling interests. 
 

1 January 2013 The impact of 
this standard 
has not yet been 
determined, and 
the Group plans 
to fully assess 
its impact in the 
coming year but 
believes it is 
unlikely to have 
a material 
impact on the 
amounts 
recognised in 
the financial 
statements. 

1 July 2013 

AASB 13 Fair Value 
Measurement 

AASB 13 establishes a single source of 
guidance for determining the fair value 
of assets and liabilities. AASB 13 does 
not change when an entity is required to 
use fair value, but rather, provides 
guidance on how to determine fair value 
when fair value is required or permitted. 
Application of this definition may result 
in different fair values being determined 
for the relevant assets. 
 
AASB 13 also expands the disclosure 
requirements for all assets or liabilities 
carried at fair value.   
 

1 January 2013 The impact of 
this standard 
has not yet been 
determined, and 
the Group plans 
to fully assess 
its impact in the 
coming year but 
believes it is 
unlikely to have 
a material 
impact on the 
amounts 
recognised in 
the financial 
statements. 

1 July 2013 
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Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

(b) New Accounting Standards and Interpretations (continued) 
 

Reference Title Summary Application 

date of 

standard 

Impact on the 

Group 

financial 

report 

Application 

date for the 

Group 

  This includes information about the 
assumptions made and the 
qualitative impact of those 
assumptions on the fair value 
determined. 
 
Consequential amendments were 
also made to other standards via 
AASB 2011-8. 
 

   

Annual 
Improvement
s 2012-5 
Cycle 

Annual 
Improvements 
to IFRSs 2009-
2011 Cycle 

AASB 2012-5 makes amendments 
resulting from the 2009-2011 Annual 
Improvements Cycle. The standard 
addresses a range of improvements, 
including the following: 
 

► Repeat application of AASB 1 is 
permitted (AASB 1) 

► Clarification of the comparative 
information requirements when 
an entity provides a third balance 
sheet (AASB 101 Presentation of 
Financial Statements). 

1 January 2013 This standard 
may change the 
disclosures 
currently made 
in the Group‟s 
financial report 
but will have no 
significant 
impact on the 
amounts 
recognised in 
the financial 
statements. 

1 July 2013 

AASB 2011-4 Amendments to 
Australian 
Accounting 
Standards to 
Remove 
Individual Key 
Management 
Personnel 
Disclosure 
Requirements 
(AASB 124) 

This Amendment deletes from AASB 
124 individual key management 
personnel disclosure requirements 
for disclosing entities that are not 
companies. It also removes the 
individual KMP disclosure 
requirements for all disclosing 
entities in relation to equity holdings, 
loans and other related party 
transactions. 
 

1 July 2013 This standard 
may change the 
disclosures 
currently made 
in the Group‟s 
financial report 
but will have no 
significant 
impact on the 
amounts 
recognised in 
the financial 
statements. 

1 July 2013 

 
Other amendments issued but not yet effective, will have no significant impact on the accounting policies, financial 
position or performance of the Group: 
 

► AASB 119 Employee Benefits 
► Interpretation 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine 
► AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards 
► AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets 

and Financial Liabilities 
► AASB 2012-9 Amendment to AASB 1048 arising from the withdrawal of Australian Interpretations 1039; and 
► Interpretation 21 - Levies 
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Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 

(c) Going concern 
 
The financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis, which assumes that the Company and the Group 
will be able to realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at amounts stated 
in the financial report. This includes the Group‟s exploration expenditure commitments, being the minimum work 
requirements under exploration permits for petroleum as set out in Note 25.  
 
At 30 June 2013, the Group had cash reserves of $2,297,404 and exploration permit work commitments with 
associated indicative costings as set out in Note 25.  In order to meet these exploration commitments, and continue 
to pay its debts as and when they fall due and payable beyond September 2014, the Group expects to complete the 
farm-in agreements it has executed with respect to Vic/P41 and Vic/P68, which remain subject to a number of 
conditions, including receiving Government and Joint Venture approvals.  In addition to these conditions, the farm-in 
agreements are subject to any applicable regulatory requirements under the Corporations Act 2001 and the ASX 
Listing Rules for transactions of this nature.  The Group also expects the extension for the Vic/P42 permit 
obligations, as applied for to the National Offshore Petroleum Titles Administrator on 17 September 2013 to be 
granted. The Group will also rely on taking appropriate steps, including: 
 

 Meeting its additional obligations by either farmout or partial sale of the Group‟s exploration interests; 

 Raising capital by one of a combination of the following: placement of shares, pro-rata issue to 
shareholders, the exercise of outstanding share options, and/or further issue of shares to the public; 

 In some circumstances, subject to negotiation and approval, minimum work requirements may be varied or 
suspended, and/or permits may be surrendered or cancelled; or 

 Other avenues that may be available to the Group.  
 
No adjustments have been made relating to the recoverability and reclassification of recorded asset amounts and 
classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Group not continue as a going concern, particularly the 
write-down of capitalised exploration expenditure should the exploration permits be ultimately surrendered or 
cancelled. 
 

(d) Basis of consolidation   
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd and its 
subsidiary as at 30 June each year (the Group).  
 
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies 
so as to obtain benefits from their activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently 
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether a group controls another entity. 

 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the parent company, using 
consistent accounting policies. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, all intercompany balances and 
transactions, income and expenses and profit and losses resulting from intra-group transactions have been 
eliminated in full.   
 
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the Group.   
 
Investments in subsidiaries held by Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd are accounted for at cost by the parent entity less 
any impairment charges. 

 

(e) Foreign currency translation 
 
(i) Functional and presentation currency 
Both the functional and presentation currency of Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd and it‟s subsidiary is Australian dollars 
($). 
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Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

 
(ii) Transactions and balances 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency by applying the exchange rates 
applicable at the date of transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance date.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the date of the initial transaction. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
was determined. 
  

(f) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at bank and short term deposits with 
an original maturity of three months or less that are readily convertible to known cash amounts of cash which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as 
defined above. 

 

(g) Trade and other receivables 
 
Trade and other receivables, which generally have 30-60 day terms, are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost less an allowance for impairment. 
 
An impairment provision is recognised when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the 
receivable.  The amount of the impairment loss is the receivable carrying amount compared to the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. 
 

(h) Investments and other financial assets 

 
Investments and financial assets in the scope of AASB 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
are categorised as either financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held to maturity 
financial assets or available for sale financial assets.  The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
assets were acquired or originated.  Designation is re-evaluated at each reporting date, but there are restrictions on 
reclassifying to other categories. 
 
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of assets not at fair 
value through profit or loss, directly attributable transactions costs.   
 
Recognition and Derecognition 
 
All regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date the Group commits 
to purchase the asset.  Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets under contracts 
that require delivery of the assets within the period established generally by regulation or convention in the market 
place.  Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the financial assets has expired 
or when the entity transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of the financial assets. If the entity neither 
retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards, it derecognises the asset if it has transferred control of 
the asset. 

 

(i) Interests in jointly controlled operations 

 
The Group has interests in joint ventures that are jointly controlled operations.  A joint venture is a contractual 
arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control.  A jointly 
controlled operation involves use of assets and other resources of the venturers rather than establishment of a 
separate entity.  The Group recognises its interest in jointly controlled operations by recognising its interest in the 
assets and the liabilities of the joint venture.  The Group also recognises the expenses that it incurs and its share of 
the income that it earns from the sale of goods or services by the jointly controlled operation.  

 
Interest in a jointly controlled asset 
The Group recognises its share of the asset, classified as Exploration and Evaluation expenditure.  In addition the 
Group recognises its share of liabilities, expenses and income from the use and output of the jointly controlled asset.  
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Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  
 

(j) Plant and equipment 
 
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment 
losses. Such cost includes the cost of replacing parts that are eligible for capitalisation when the cost of replacing 
the parts is incurred.  Similarly, when each major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement only if it is eligible for capitalisation.  All other repairs and 
maintenance are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the assets as follows: 
 
Office furniture and equipment – over 3 to 10 years 
Leasehold improvements – up to 3 years 
 
The assets' residual values, useful lives and amortisation methods are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at 
each financial year end. 
 
Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount.  These are included 
in profit or loss. 
 
Derecognition 
An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no further future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. 
 

(k) Leases 

 
The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on substance of the arrangement and 
requires assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or 
assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. 
 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.  Operating lease incentives are recognised as a liability when received and subsequently reduced by 
allocating lease payments between rental expense and reduction of the liability. 

 

(l) Impairment of non-financial assets other than indefinite life intangibles 

 
Non-financial assets other than indefinite life intangibles are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
 
The Group conducts an annual internal review of asset values, which is used as a source of information to assess 
any indicators for impairment.  External factors, such as changes in expected future processes, technology and 
economic conditions, are also monitored to assess for indicators of impairment.  If any impairment exists, an 
estimate of the asset‟s recoverable amount is calculated. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset‟s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount.  Recoverable amount is the higher of an assets fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  Non-financial 
assets that suffered an impairment are tested for possible reversal of the impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the impairment may have reversed.  

 

(m) Intangibles 

 
Intangible assets acquired separately or in a business combination are initially measured at cost.  The cost of an 
intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value as at the date of acquisition.  Following initial 
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.  Internally generated intangible assets, excluding capitalised exploration and evaluation costs, 
are not capitalised and expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the year in which the expenditure is incurred.  
  
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.  Intangible assets with finite lives 
are amortised over the useful life and tested for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset 
may be impaired.  The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful 
life are reviewed at least at each financial year-end.   
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Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

  

(m) Intangibles (continued) 

 
Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in 
the asset are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, which is a change in 
accounting estimate.  The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised in profit or loss in 
the expense category consistent with the function of the intangible asset.   
 

(n) Exploration and evaluation expenditure 
 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure is carried forward separately for each area of interest provided that the rights 
to tenure of the area of interest is current and either: 

 the exploration and evaluation activities are expected to be recouped through successful development and 
exploitation of the area of interest or, alternatively, by its sale; or 

 exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting date reached a stage 
that permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves, 
and active and significant operations in or relating to, the area of interest are continuing. 
 

The carrying value of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment at the area of 
interest level whenever facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying value may exceed its recoverable amount. 
  
An impairment exists when the carrying amount of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure relating to an 
area of interest exceeds its recoverable amount.  The asset is then written down to its recoverable amount.  Any 
impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.   
 
To the extent that capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is determined not to be recoverable in the 
future, profits and net assets will be reduced in the period in which the determination is made.  
 
Farmouts 
The Group will account for farm-out arrangements as follows: 

 The Group will not record any expenditure by the farminee on the Group‟s behalf; 

 The Group will not recognise a gain or loss on the farm-out arrangement but rather will redesignate any 
costs previously capitalised in relation to the whole interest as relating to the partial interest retained; and 

 Any cash consideration to be received will be credited against costs previously capitalised in relation to the 
whole interest with any excess to be accounted for by the Group as gain on disposal. 

 

(o) Trade and other payables 

 
Trade payables and other payables are carried at amortised cost due to their short term nature they are not 
discounted. They represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial 
year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make future payments in respect of the 
purchase of these goods and services.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of 
recognition. 

 

(p) Provisions and employee benefits 

 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past 
event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
  
Employee leave benefits 
(i) Salaries, annual leave and sick leave 
Liabilities for salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of 
the reporting date are recognised in provisions in respect of employees‟ services up to the reporting date.  They are 
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  Liabilities for non-accumulating sick 
leave are recognised when the leave is taken and are measured at the rates paid or payable. 
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Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

 

(p) Provisions and employee benefits (continued) 
  
(ii) Long service leave 
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for long service leave and measured as the present 
value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date 
using the projected unit credit method.  Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience 
of employee departures, and periods of service.  Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash flows.   

  

(q) Share-based payment transactions 

 
Equity settled transactions: 
The Group provides benefits to its employees (including key management personnel) in the form of share-based 
payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (equity-settled 
transactions).   
 
There is currently one plan in place to provide these benefits: 

 The Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP), which provides benefits to directors and senior executives.   
 
The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value of the equity 
instruments at the date at which they are granted.  The fair value is determined using a binomial model, further 
details of which are given in Note 23. 
 
In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions linked to 
the price of the shares of Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd (market conditions), if applicable.   
 
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the 
period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant 
employees become fully entitled to the award (the vesting date). 
 
At each subsequent reporting date until vesting, the cumulative charge to profit or loss is the product of: 
(i) the grant date fair value of the award; 
(ii) the current best estimate of the number of awards that will vest; and 
(iii) the expired portion of the vesting period.  
 
The charge to profit or loss for the period is the cumulative amount as calculated above less the amounts already 
charged in previous periods.  There is a corresponding entry to equity. 
 
If an equity award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the day of cancellation, and any expense not yet 
recognised for the award is recognised immediately.  The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options is reflected as 
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share (see Note 22).  

 

(r) Contributed equity 

 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. 
 

(s) Revenue recognition  
 
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable to the extent that 
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured. The 
following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised: 
  
Rendering of services 
Where either the contract outcome or control of the right to be compensated for the services and the stage of 
completion can be reliably measured, revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract 
or contracts in progress at balance date or at the time of completion and billing to the customer.   
 
Stage of completion is measured by reference to the labour hours incurred to date as a percentage of total 
estimated labour hours. 
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Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)  

 

(s) Revenue recognition (continued) 

 
Where the contract outcome cannot be reliably measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent that costs have 
been incurred. 
 
Royalty income 
Royalty revenue is recognised on a quarterly basis in accordance with the royalty agreement.  The Group has 
received only minimal royalty amounts to date.  Refer to Note 13 for further details. 
 
Interest income 
Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method.  This is a method of calculating the 
amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective 
interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 
 
Government Grants 
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all 
conditions attached will be compiled with.  When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income 
over the period necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that it is intended to compensate. 
When the grant relates to an asset it is recognised as deferred income and released to income in equal amounts 
over the expected useful life of the related asset. 

 

(t) Income tax and other taxes 
 
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities.  The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those 
that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. 
 
Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.  Deferred income tax liabilities are 
recognised for all taxable temporary differences except:  

 when the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither 
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

 when the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or 
interests in joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference can be controlled and it 
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax 
assets and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 
except: 
 

 when the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; or 

 when the deductible temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or 
interests in joint ventures, in which case a deferred tax asset is only recognised to the extent that it is 
probable that the temporary difference will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.  The carrying amount of deferred income 
tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.   

 
Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.   
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.   
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(t) Income tax and other taxes (continued) 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset only if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to the same taxable entity and 
the same taxation authority.   
 
Other taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 
 

 when the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority, 
in which case the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense 
item as applicable; and 

 receivables and payables, which are stated with the amount of GST included. 
 
The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the statement of financial position. 
 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority.   
 

(u) Earnings per share 

 
Basic earnings per share is calculated as net profit/(loss) attributable to members of the parent, adjusted to exclude 
any costs of servicing equity (other than dividends), divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares, 
adjusted for any bonus element.   
 
Diluted earnings per share are calculated as net profit/(loss) attributable to members of the parent, adjusted for: 

 Costs of servicing equity (other than dividends); 

 The after tax effect of interest associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares that have been recognised 
as expenses; and/or 

 Other non-discretionary changes in revenues or expenses during the period that would result from the 
dilution of potential ordinary shares, divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares and 
dilutive potential ordinary shares and adjusted for any bonus element. 

 

(v) Significant accounting estimates and assumptions 

 
The carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities are often determined based on estimates and assumptions of 
future events.  The key estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of certain assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period are: 
 
Share-based payment transactions 
The Group measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the 
equity instruments at the date at which they are granted.  The fair value of share options is determined by an 
external valuer using a binomial option pricing model, and using the assumptions detailed in Note 23. 
 
Exploration and evaluation costs 
Significant judgement is required in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will be derived from 
the capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure. In the judgement of the Directors, at 30 June 2013 
exploration activities in each area of interest where amounts remain capitalised have not yet reached a stage which 
permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves. Active and 
significant operations in relation to each of those areas of interest are planned and nothing has come to the attention 
of the Directors to indicate future economic benefits will not be achieved.   
 
In the event where ongoing committed activities cannot be funded by existing financial resources, the Group will 
either need to raise additional capital, or meet its obligations either by farm-out or partial sale of the company‟s 
exploration interests, or subject to negotiation and approval, vary the minimum work requirements. The Directors are 
continually monitoring those areas of interest and are exploring alternatives for funding the development of those 
areas of interest when economically recoverable reserves are confirmed. If new information becomes available that 
suggests the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amounts capitalised will need to be reassessed at that time. 
Refer to Note 14 for details of exploration and evaluation costs written off during the period. 



  
  

- 42 - 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

 
Note 3. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 
 
The Group‟s principal financial instruments comprise receivables, payables, cash and short-term deposits. 
 
The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks, including interest rate and currency risk in accordance with 
the Group‟s financial risk management policy.  The objective of the policy is to support the delivery of the Group‟s 
financial targets whilst protecting future financial security. 

 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the risk management 
framework. Risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and 
systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the Group‟s activities. The Group, 
through their training and management standards and procedures, aim to develop a disciplined and constructive 
control environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.  

 
The Group does not enter into or trade in financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for 
speculative purposes.  The use of financial instruments is governed by the Company‟s and the Group‟s policies 
approved by the Board, which provide written principles on the use of financial derivatives. 

 
The main risks arising from the Group‟s financial instruments are interest rate risk and foreign currency risk.  The 
Group uses different methods to measure and manage different types of risk to which it is exposed.  These include 
monitoring levels of exposure to interest rate and foreign exchange risk and assessments of market forecasts for 
interest rate risks and foreign exchange rates.   
 

Credit risk 
 
Credit risk arises from financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, and trade & other 
receivables. 
 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to 
the Group.  The Group have adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining 
sufficient collateral or other security, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from 
defaults. 
 
The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any provisions for losses, 
represents the Group‟s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of any collateral or other security 
obtained. 
 
It is the Group‟s policy that all parties who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures 
including an assessment of their independent credit rating, financial position, past experience and industry 
reputation.  Risk limits are assessed for each individual party and are regularly monitored. 
 
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result being that the Group‟s exposure 
to bad debts is not significant.  Currently there are no receivables that are impaired or past due but not impaired. 

 

Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group‟s 
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking 
damage to the Group‟s reputation. 
 
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an appropriate 
liquidity risk framework for the management of the Group‟s short, medium and longer term funding and liquidity 
management requirements.  The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate banking facilities through 
monitoring of future rolling cash flow forecasts of its operations, which reflect management‟s expectations of the 
settlement of financial assets and liabilities. 
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Note 3. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued) 
 
Subject to the completion of the farm out agreements for Vic/P41 and Vic/P68 the Group has sufficient funds to 
meet all of its current committed work programs over the next twelve months as a minimum.  Adequacy and 
availability of funding will, for the immediate future remain a substantial issue for the Group and its Shareholders. 
The Group will, from time to time, likely need to raise additional capital to implement and complete its business 
plans and meet all work and planned and unexpected expenditure commitments on its permits. In the unlikely event 
that work program commitments can not be met, permits if not surrendered, can be cancelled by the relevant 
authorities. 
 
The only financial liabilities are trade and other payables.  At 30 June 2013, the Group had $110,122 (2012: 
$98,855) in trade and other payables.  Trade payables are non-interest bearing and have a contractual maturity of 
less than 30 days.   
 

Market risk 

 
Market risk is that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and commodity prices 
will affect the Group‟s income or the value of it‟s holding of financial instruments.  The objective of market risk 
management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the 
return. The Group has no material exposure to market risk. 

 

Foreign currency risk 
 
The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency other 
than the respective functional currency of the Group. 
 
The majority of the Group‟s cash flow is denominated in AUD and, as a result, the Group‟s exposure to foreign 
currency risk is minimal. 
 
The carrying amount of the Group‟s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the 
reporting date are $nil (2012: nil). 
 

Interest rate risk 
 
The Group‟s exposure to market interest rates relates primarily to the Group‟s cash (refer to Note 9).   
  
  Consolidated 
  2013 2012 
  $ $ 

Assets    
 

Cash and cash equivalents  2,297,404 2,115,103 

   
2,297,404 

 
2,115,103 

    
 
The following table demonstrates the estimated sensitivity to a 1% increase and decrease in the interest rate, where 
all other variables are held constant.  Reasonably possible movements in interest rates were determined based on a 
review of historical movements.  The sensitivity is based on the interest rate exposures in existence as at balance 
date. 
  
  Consolidated 
  2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Judgements of reasonably possible movements    
Impact on post tax profit    
+1% (100 basis points)  22,974 21,151 
 -1% (100 basis points)  (22,974) (21,151) 

    
 
There is no impact on equity other than the impact of the above post tax profit sensitivities would have on 
accumulated (losses)/profits. 
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Note 3. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (continued) 

 

Fair value of financial instruments 
 
The Directors consider that the carrying amount of the financial assets and liabilities recorded in the financial 
statements approximate their fair values unless otherwise stated. 
 
The fair values are determined as follows: 

 The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and traded on 
an active liquid market is determined with reference to the quoted price; and 

 The fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities is determined in accordance with generally 
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis. 

 

Capital management 
 
Capital is defined as equity.  When managing capital, management‟s objective is to ensure the entity continues as a 
going concern as well as to maintain optimal returns to shareholders. 
 
The Group will seek to raise further capital, if required, as and when necessary to meet its projected operations. The 
decision of how the Group will raise future capital will depend on market conditions existing at that time.  It is the 
Group‟s plan that this capital will be raised by any one or a combination of the following: placement of shares to 
excluded offerees, pro-rata issue to shareholders, the exercise of outstanding options, and/or a further issue of 
shares to the public.  Should these methods not be considered to be viable, or in the best interests of shareholders, 
then it would be the company‟s intention to meet its obligations by either partial sale of the company‟s interests or 
farmout, the latter course of action being part of the company‟s overall strategy. 
 
The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
 

 

Note 4. Administrative expenses 
  
  Consolidated 
 Note 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Audit fees 7 77,500 76,200 
Consultants fees other  284,789 144,114 
Corporate related costs  45,471 49,597 
Directors‟ remuneration  223,450 196,082 
Computer costs  22,805 20,542 
Exchange losses  2,604 4,000 
Insurance  16,111 21,209 
Legal expenses  623,578 49,900 
Loss on disposal of assets  273 682 
Marketing  26,226 - 
Operating lease costs  100,111 69,900 
Other expenses  48,644 68,382 
Printing & stationery  5,006 25,667 
Recruitment  79,505 - 
Travel  24,830 30,200 

   
1,580,903 

 
756,475 
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Note 5. Depreciation and amortisation 

 
  Consolidated 
 Note 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Depreciation 12 13,568 19,341 
Amortisation of intangibles 13 - 11,199 
Impairment of intangibles 13 123,251 - 

   
136,819 

 
30,540 

    

 

Note 6. Employee benefits expense 

 
  Consolidated 
 Note 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Wages and salaries  332,291 296,420 
Superannuation  33,419 41,162 
Workers compensation  1,103 5,792 
Payroll tax  11,220 8,263 
Provision for annual leave  31,426 29,968 

   
409,459 

 
381,605 

    
 
These Employee benefits are in the statement of comprehensive income. Additionally employee benefits of 
$130,717 (2012: $142,351) have been included in deferred exploration costs.  
 
 

Note 7.  Auditor’s Remuneration 

 
The auditor of Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd. is EY 
  Consolidated 
 Note 2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Amounts received or due and receivable by EY for:    
    
An audit or review of the financial report of the entity and 
any other entity in the consolidated group 

 
4 

 
77,500 

 
76,200 

Tax compliance services for the group  35,500 11,300 

   
113,000 

 
87,500 

    



  
  

- 46 - 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

 

Note 8. Income Tax 
 
The major components of income tax expense are: 
  Consolidated 
  2013 2012 
  $ $ 

Statement of Comprehensive Income    

Current income tax expense/(benefit)  489,259 799,984 
Deferred income tax expense/(benefit)  (438,458) (761,193) 

Income tax expense/(benefit) reported in the statement of 
comprehensive income 

  
50,801 

 
38,791 

    

Statement of Changes in Equity    

Share issue costs  (50,801) (38,791) 

 
Income tax benefit reported directly in Equity 

  
(50,801) 

 
(38,791) 

    

Tax reconciliation    

A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of 
accounting profit/(loss) before income tax multiplied by the 
Group‟s applicable income tax rate is as follows: 

   

    
Accounting loss before tax  (3,590,369) (4,331,144) 
    
At the Group‟s statutory income tax rate of 30% (2012: 30%)  (1,077,111) (1,299,343) 
Non-deductible expenditure:    
Loss on disposal of assets  82 205 
Exploration expenditure written off  485,072 796,944 
Government Research & Development Grant  - (154,424) 
Tax losses not brought to account  642,758 695,409 

Income tax expense/(benefit) reported in the statement of 
comprehensive income 

  
50,801 

 
38,791 
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Note 8.  Income Tax (continued)  
 
  

 

Statement of Financial 

Position 

Statement of 

Comprehensive Income 
  2013 2012 2013 2012 
  $ $ $ $ 

Deferred Income Tax      

Deferred income tax at 30 June relates to the 
following: 

    

      

Consolidated      

Deferred tax liabilities      
Exploration and evaluation costs  (1,565,177) (1,976,163) (410,986) (748,518) 
Intangible assets  (300) (37,275) (36,975) (3,360) 
Accrued revenue  (2,084) (3,511) (1,427) (2,020) 
Prepayments  (10,320) (6,501) 3,819 (1,521) 
Accrued interest  (3,034) (1,158) 1,876 (375) 
Other   12 1,928 1,916 (476) 

Gross deferred income tax liabilities  (1,580,903) (2,022,680)   

      
Deferred tax assets      
Accruals  11,700 12,210 510 1,620 
Provisions  4,408 7,217 2,809 (6,543) 
Share issue costs  122,884 113,637 - - 
Tax losses recognised to offset net 
deferred tax liability 

  
1,441,911 

 
1,889,616 

 
489,259 

 
799,984 

Gross deferred income tax assets  1,580,903 2,022,680   

      
Net deferred tax asset/(liability)  - -   

      

Deferred income tax (benefit)/expense   50,801 38,791  

      
 

Tax losses 
The Group has unrecognised gross income tax losses arising in Australia of $26,398,803 (2012: $25,106,613) that 
are available indefinitely for offset against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose other 
than to offset recognised deferred tax liabilities. The unused tax losses will not be recognised as deferred income tax 
assets until it is probable that taxable profits will be available to utilise those losses subject to continuing to meet 
statutory tests. In addition, the Group has unrecognised gross capital tax losses for which no deferred tax asset is 
recognised in the statement of financial position of $774,000 (2012: $774,000) and are available indefinitely for 
offset against future capital gains of a similar nature subject to continuing to meet statutory tests.   
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Note 9.  Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
  Consolidated 
  2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Cash at bank and in hand  291,512 457,603 
Bank term deposits  2,005,892 1,675,500 

   
2,297,404 

 
2,115,103 

    

 
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 
 
Bank term deposits are made for varying periods depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and 
earn interest at the respective term deposit rates. 
 
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is $2,297,404 (2012: $2,115,103). 
 
The Group has no undrawn borrowing facilities (2012: Nil). 
 

 

Note 10. Trade and Other Receivables 

 
  Consolidated 
  2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Other receivables  10,112 518,679 
Goods and services tax and withholding tax refunds  2,337 3,755 

   
12,449 

 
522,434 

    
 
At balance date, there are no receivables that are past due but not impaired.  Due to the short-term nature of these 
receivables, their carrying value approximates fair value.  Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are 
generally on 30 day terms.  Details regarding the credit risk of receivables are disclosed in Note 3. 
 
 

Note 11. Other Current Assets 
 
  Consolidated 
  2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Prepayment  34,401 21,669 
Accrued revenue  6,947 11,704 

   
41,348 

 
33,373 
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Note 12. Plant and Equipment 

 
  Consolidated 
 Note 2013 2012 
  $ $ 

Computer software    

Cost  173,227 173,227 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (173,227) (173,227) 

 
Net carrying amount 

  
- 

 
- 

    
    

Office equipment, furniture and fittings    

Opening balance, net of accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 

  
38,525 

 
24,194 

Additions  4,505 27,909 
Disposals  (273) (682) 
Depreciation charge for the year  (10,056) (9,367) 
Depreciation charge for the year – deferred exploration 
costs 

  
(3,196) 

 
(3,529) 

Closing balance, net of accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 

  
29,505 

 
38,525 

    
Cost  87,939 147,663 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (58,434) (109,138) 

 
Net carrying amount 

  
29,505 

 
38,525 

    

    

Leasehold improvements    

Opening balance, net of accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 

  
4,564 

 
18,297 

Depreciation charge for the year  (3,512) (9,974) 
Depreciation charge for the year – deferred exploration 
costs 

  
(1,052) 

 
(3,759) 

Closing balance, net of accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 

  
- 

 
4,564 

    
Cost  68,475 68,475 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (68,475) (63,911) 

 
Net carrying amount 

  
- 

 
4,564 

    
    
Total    

Opening balance, net of accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 

  
43,089 

 
42,491 

Additions  4,505 27,909 
Disposals  (273) (682) 
Depreciation charge for the year 5 (13,568) (19,341) 
Depreciation charge for the year – deferred exploration 
costs 

  
(4,248) 

 
(7,288) 

Closing balance, net of accumulated depreciation and 
impairment 

  
29,505 

 
43,089 

    
Cost  329,641 389,365 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  (300,136) (346,276) 

 
Net carrying amount 

  
29,505 

 
43,089 
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Note 13.  Intangible Assets 

 
  Consolidated 
 Note 2013 2012 
  $ $ 

Yolla Royalty    

Opening balance, net of accumulated amortisation and 
impairment 

  
124,251 

 
135,450 

Amortisation 5 - (11,199) 
Impairment 5 (123,251) - 

Closing balance, net of accumulated amortisation and 
impairment  

  
1,000 

 
124,251 

    
Cost (gross carrying amount)  475,923 475,923 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (474,923) (351,672) 

 
Net carrying amount 

  
1,000 

 
124,251 

    
 
The Yolla Royalty is a 0.0648% overriding royalty from the total net production of the Production Licence T/L1, being 
the area of the Yolla Field, and the adjacent T/RL1 in the Bass Basin. The royalty was acquired in 2003 through the 
issue of shares and has a finite life depending upon economic gas and oil condensate reserves in the field. The 
amortisation of the royalty is based on the units of production method. The current owners commenced commercial 
production in early July 2006. The Group has received only minimal royalty amounts to date, and the methodology 
used by the owners in calculating payment sums is in dispute.   
 
Judgement is required in determining the extent of future economic benefits to be derived from the Yolla Royalty. 
Under AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, the receipt of lower than expected royalty amounts received to date are an 
indicator of impairment.  
 
The Directors continue to seek legal advice on the position adopted by the Group, and are actively taking steps to 
resolve the dispute through agreement with the owners regarding the calculation methodology to be adopted. 
Alternatively, the directors may pursue legal action to resolve the dispute. Due to the length of time it is taking to 
resolve this matter, the Directors felt it prudent to impair the carrying value of the asset to the nominal sum of 
$1,000. If the dispute is resolved in favour of the Group, the impairments recognised to date may be reversed. 
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Note 14.  Exploration and Evaluation Costs  

 
  Consolidated 
  2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Petroleum tenements in the exploration phase    
Balance at the beginning of year  6,587,209 9,082,266 
Cost capitalised for the year  381,328 1,619,038 
Exploration costs impaired and written off  (1,751,280) (4,114,095) 

 
Balance at the end of year 

  
5,217,257 

 
6,587,209 

    
Petroleum tenements in the exploration phase    
Cost (gross carrying amount)  25,136,719 24,755,391 
Impairment and write offs  (19,919,462) (18,168,182) 

 
Net carrying amount 

  
5,217,257 

 
6,587,209 

    

 
The exploration and evaluation costs are represented by Vic/P41 $3,398,154 (2012: $3,406,340), Vic/P42 
$1,679,809 (2012: $1,568,109) Vic/P47 $nil (2012: $1,539,000) and other $139,294 (2012: $73,760). 

 
Significant judgement is required in determining whether it is likely that future economic benefits will be derived from 
the capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure. In the judgement of the Directors, at 30 June 2013 
exploration activities in each area of interest have not yet reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment 
of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves. Active and significant operations in relation to 
each area of interest are planned, and in particular we expect that the National Offshore Petroleum Titles 
Administrator will grant an extension in Vic/P42 to allow further studies to be completed prior to committing to a well. 
 Nothing has come to the attention of the Directors to indicate future economic benefits will not be achieved.  
 
In the event where ongoing committed activities cannot be funded by existing financial resources, the Group will 
either need to raise additional capital, or meet its obligations either by farm-out or partial sale of the company‟s 
exploration interests, or subject to negotiation and approval, vary the minimum work requirements. The Directors are 
continually monitoring the areas of interest and are exploring alternatives for funding the development of areas of 
interest when economically recoverable reserves are confirmed. If new information becomes available that suggests 
the recovery of expenditure is unlikely, the amounts capitalised will need to be reassessed at that time.  
 
In the current year, costs of $1,589,251 associated with Vic/P47 have been written off. The  permit has a minimum 
work programme requirement to drill one (1) exploration well in permit Year 5. The Group is unable to fund an 
exploration well and has also been unable to attract a farminee to date willing to fund the well. The Group is likely to 
withdraw from this permit. 
 
Costs of $57,756 incurred with the initial planning of the Stanton 3D in Vic/P41 have been written off as the Joint 
Venture agreed not to proceed with this commitment and a variation to the work programme commitment has been 
granted. 
 
Further, costs of $104,273 associated with Vic/P66 have been written off as no further exploration activities are 
being undertaken in this permit and the Joint Venture parties have sought but have not been granted its surrender. 
The permit will be cancelled in due course. 
 
In the previous year, costs associated with the PEP 167 well abandonment of $1,970,649 and costs of $2,143,446 
associated with the Tasmanian permits, T42 & T43, which were not renewed, were written off. 
 
Commitments and tenure of each permit are included in Note 25. 
 
 

Note 15.  Investments in Controlled Entities 

 
BSOC Business Services Pty Ltd, is a non-operating subsidiary, which is 100% owned and incorporated in Australia. 
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Note 16. Trade and Other Payables  

 
  Consolidated 
  2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Trade payables  14,040 25,984 
Other payables  96,082 72,871 

   
110,122 

 
98,855 

    

 

 

Note 17.  Provisions 

 
  Consolidated 
  2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Provision for annual leave  14,692 24,057 

   
14,692 

 
24,057 

    

 
 

Note 18. Interest in Joint Venture Operations and Assets 
 
The Company has an interest in the assets, liabilities and output of joint venture operations and assets for the 
exploration and development of petroleum in Australia.  The Company has taken up its share of joint venture 
transactions based on the Company‟s contributions to the joint ventures.  Expenditure commitments in respect of the 
joint ventures are disclosed in Note 25.  Details of the Company‟s interests in the joint ventures are: 
 
  Interest 

30/6/2012 

Interest 

Acquired 

Interest 

Disposed 

Interest 

30/6/2013 
      
Vic/P41  45% 19.6% - 64.6% 
Vic/P47  40% - - 40% 
Vic/P66  60% - - 60% 
PEP 150  15% - - 15% 
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Note 19.  Contributed Equity 

 
    Consolidated 
  2013 2012 2013 2012 
  Shares Shares $ $ 

Issued and paid up capital      

Ordinary shares fully paid  518,285,747 388,039,613 30,913,043 29,108,708 

      

Movements in ordinary shares on issue     

Ordinary shares on issue at beginning 
of period 

  
388,039,613 

 
291,030,250 

 
29,108,708 

 
26,945,138 

Ordinary shares issued during period  130,246,134 97,009,363 1,953,692 2,425,234 
Transaction costs  - - (200,158) (300,455) 
Deferred Tax asset on share issue 
costs 

  
- 

 
- 

 
50,801 

 
38,791 

   
518,285,747 

 
388,039,613 

 
30,913,043 

 
29,108,708 

      
 

 

(i) Terms and Conditions of Contributed Equity 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to receive dividends as declared and, in the event of winding up the Company, to 
participate in the proceeds from the sale of all surplus assets in proportion to the number of and amounts paid up on 
shares held.  Ordinary shares entitle their holder to one vote, either in person or by proxy, at a meeting of the 
Company. 

 

(ii)   Other Remuneration Options 
On 14 October 2011, 10,000,000 options with an exercise price of 4 cents each and expiring on 14 October 2014 
were granted under the Underwriting Agreement in association with the October 2011 capital raising.   
 
On 28 October 2011, 2,000,000 options with an exercise price of 4 cents each and expiring on 14 October 2014 
were granted to the Chief Executive Officer.  These options lapsed on the Chief Executive Officer‟s resignation. 

 

 

Note 20.  Accumulated (Losses)/Profits 

 
  Consolidated 
  2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Balance at beginning of period  (19,883,552) (15,513,617) 
Net (loss)  (3,641,170) (4,369,935) 

 
Balance at end of period 

  
(23,524,722) 

 
(19,883,552) 
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Note 21.  Reserves 

 
  Consolidated 
  2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Balance at beginning of period  77,391 - 
Share-based payments  - 15,403 
Share-based payments related to equity raising  - 77,391 
Share options lapsed and forfeited  - (15,403) 

 
Balance at end of period 

  
77,391 

 
77,391 

    
 
The share-based payments reserve is used to record the value of share-based payments provided to employees, 
including KMP, as part of their remuneration. Share-based payments related to equity raising is used to record 
options issued as part of the remuneration paid to the underwriters for the capital raising.  Refer to Note 23 for 
further details of these plans. 

 

 

Note 22.   Earnings per Share 
 
The following reflects the income used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations. 
 
  Consolidated 
  2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Net loss attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of the 
parent 

  
(3,641,170) 

 
(4,369,935) 

    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares:    

  2013 2012 
  Number Number 
    
Issued ordinary shares at 1 July  388,039,613 291,030,250 
Effect of shares issued October 2011  - 68,118,596 
Effect of shares issued August 2012  49,430,431 - 
Effect of shares issued September 2012  57,812,205 - 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 June   
495,282,249 

 
359,148,846 

    
 
Share options have not been included in the diluted earnings per share calculation as they are antidilutive for the 
periods presented. 

 



  
  

- 55 - 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

 

Note 23.  Share-based Payments  

 
Share options are granted to key management personnel and other personnel that have terms and conditions that 
are subject to contractual arrangements. Share options have also been granted to the underwriters as part of 
contractual arrangements related to equity raising. The contractual life of each option granted is up to five years. 
There are no cash settlement alternatives. 

 
The exercise price of the options is set by the Directors on the date of grant. Presently the plan vests all of the 
options on the day they are granted.  
 
The expense recognised in profit or loss in relation to share-based payments has been disclosed.   

 
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of movements in share 
options: 
 
  2013 2013 2012 2012 
  Number WAEP Number WAEP 

      
Outstanding at the beginning of year  12,000,000 0.04 - - 
Options granted  - - 12,000,000 0.04 
Options forfeited  (2,000,000) (0.04) - - 
Outstanding at the end of the year  10,000,000 0.04 12,000,000 0.04 
      
Exercisable at the end of the year  10,000,000 0.04 12,000,000 0.04 

      
The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding at 30 June 2013 is 1.29 years 
(2012: 2.29 years). 
 
The fair value of the equity-settled share options granted under the option plan is estimated as at the date of the 
grant using a binomial model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. 
Other factors taken into account in assessing the fair value at grant of the options includes an assumption that the 
options will be exercised and the material assumptions indicated below. 
 
The effects of early exercise have been incorporated into the calculations by using an expected life for the option 
that is shorter than the contractual life based on historical exercise behaviour, which is not necessarily indicative of 
exercise patterns that may occur in the future. 
 
Options granted   14-Oct -11 
    
Dividend yield (%)   0.00 
Expected volatility (%)   70 
Risk free interest rate (%)   3.845 
Expected life of option (years)   3 
Expiry date   14-Oct-14 
Option exercise price ($)   0.04 
Weighted average share price at 
measurement date ($) 

   
0.03 

 
 
Shares allotted on exercise of options rank pari passu in all respects with other fully paid ordinary shares. Each option 
entitles the holder to participate in new issues in which shares or other securities are offered to shareholders of the 
Company upon the prior exercise of the options. The options do not confer the right to dividends or to vote at meetings 
of members. 
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Note 24.   Key Management Personnel Disclosures 
 

(a) Compensation for key management personnel 

 

  Consolidated 

  2013 2012 

  $ $ 

Short term employee benefits  678,617 509,267 
Post-employment benefits  35,425 79,115 

 
 

  
714,042 

 
588,382 

    
 

(b) Option holdings of key management personnel 

 

 1 July 2012     30 June 2013 

 Balance at 
beginning of 

period 

 
Granted as 

remuneration 

 
Options 

exercised 

Options 
lapsed or 
forfeited 

Balance at 
end of period  

 
Vested and 
exercisable 

2013       

Executives       
S I Mackie (a) 2,000,000 - - (2,000,000) - - 

 2,000,000 - - (2,000,000) - - 

       

       

 1 July 2010     30 June 2012 

 Balance at 
beginning of 

period 

 
Granted as 

remuneration 

 
Options 

exercised 

Options 
lapsed or 
forfeited 

Balance at 
end of period  

 
Vested and 
exercisable 

2012       

Executives       
S I Mackie  - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 

 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 2,000,000 

 
(a) Resigned 28 August 2012 
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Note 24.   Key Management Personnel Disclosures (continued) 

 

(c) Shareholdings of key management personnel  

 
Shares held in Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd (number) 
 

 1 July 2012    30 June 2013 

 Balance at 
beginning of 

period 

 
Granted as 

remuneration 

 
On exercise 

of options 

 
Net change 

other 

 
Balance at end 

of period 

2013      

Directors      
J L C McInnes 1,000,000 - - 500,000 1,500,000 
A P Whittle  400,000 - - 66,666 466,666 
D J Lindh (f) 26,104,704 - - 5,434,258 31,538,962 
J A McCoy  500,000 - - - 500,000 

 28,004,704 - - 6,000,924 34,005,628 

      

      

      

 1 July 2011    30 June 2012 

 Balance at 
beginning of 

period 

 
Granted as 

remuneration 

 
On exercise 

of options 

 
Net change 

other 

 
Balance at end 

of period 

2012      

Directors      
J L C McInnes 750,000 - - 250,000 1,000,000 
A P Whittle (a) - - - 400,000 400,000 
J G Tuohy (b) - - - - - 
D J Lindh (c), (f) - - - 26,104,704 26,104,704 
J A McCoy (d) - - - 500,000 500,000 
H J Askin (e) 1,840,000 - - (1,840,000) - 

 2,590,000 - - 25,414,704 28,004,704 

      
(a) Appointed 9 August 2011 
(b) Resigned 25 November 2011 
(c) Appointed 25 November 2011 
(d) Appointed 25 November 2011 
(e) Resigned 31 December 2011 
(f)  Mr Lindh‟s interest includes 2,683,332 (2012: 2,300,000) shares held directly and 28,855,630 (2012: 23,804,704) 

shares held indirectly by a related party, South Australian Resource Investments Pty Ltd, a subsidiary of 
Adelaide Equity Partners Ltd. 

 

(d) Other transactions and balances with key management personnel and their related parties 
 
During the year the Group paid corporate advisory expenses of $79,537 (2012: $65,000) to Adelaide Equity Partners 
Ltd, a Company in which one Director, Mr D Lindh, is also a Director. The fees were provided under normal 
commercial terms and conditions. Amounts outstanding at balance date were $5,500 (2012: $5,500). 
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Note 25.  Commitments 

 

Permit work commitments 
 
Indicative expenditure commitments at balance date (being minimum work requirements under exploration permits 
for petroleum).   
 
  Consolidated 
  2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Within one year  1,266,000 2,227,500 
After one year but not more than five years  16,297,000 5,162,500 

 
 

  
17,563,000 

 
7,390,000 

    
 
Indicative expenditure commitments include minimum work obligations for the initial 3 year period of exploration 
permits (and thereafter annually) and obligations arising from farm-in arrangements. The Group is dependent on 
certain factors to be able to meet these minimum work requirements.  These are set out in Note 2(c). 
  

Vic/P41 
The Year 2 committed work program consists of 3D seismic reprocessing, fault seal and QI studies ($516,000).  On 
31 July the Group announced that it had executed a farm-in agreement with Cooper Energy Ltd, whereby Cooper 
Energy would be assigned a 25.8% interest in Vic/P41 in exchange for funding the Group‟s current work commitment. 
The agreement remains subject to a number of conditions, including Government and Joint Venture approvals. In 
addition to these conditions, the agreement is subject to any applicable regulatory requirements under the 
Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules for transactions of this nature. The committed work program for Year 3 
consists of geological and geophysical studies ($97,000).  

 

Vic/P42 
The Year 4 commitment of geological and geophysical studies has been completed. All permit commitments have 
been met to date. The Group has applied for a suspension and extension of the Year 4 work program in conjunction 
with a Collaboration Agreement with HiRex Petroleum Sdn Bhd. The Group has not committed to any further 
expenditure in this permit. The Group has an optional well commitment in Year 5, refer Note 30.  

 

Vic/P47 
The Year 4 commitment of the reappraisal of Judith has been completed. All permit commitments have been met to 
date. The Group has an optional well commitment in Year 5, refer Note 14.  

 

Vic/P68 
The Year 2 committed work program consists of geological and geophysical studies ($250,000). On 31 July the 
Group announced that it had executed a farm-in agreement with Cooper Energy Ltd, whereby Cooper Energy would 
have the option to acquire a 50% interest in Vic/P68 in exchange for funding the Group‟s current work commitment. The 
agreement remains subject to a number of conditions, including Government approvals. The committed work 
program for Year 3 consists of a 3D seismic survey ($6,000,000). 

 

PEP 167 
The Second term Year 1 commitment of geological and geophysical studies ($250,000) is being completed. The 
committed work program consists of further geological and geophysical studies in Year 2 ($250,000), a 150km 2D 
seismic survey in Year 3 ($1,500,000), geological and geophysical studies in Year 4 ($250,000) and one exploration 
well in Year 5 ($2,600,000). 

 

PEP 175 
The Year 1 commitment of geological and geophysical studies ($250,000) is being completed. The committed work 
program consists of seismic reprocessing and preparation in Year 2 ($350,000), a 150km 2D seismic survey in Year 
3 ($1,500,000), one exploration well in Year 4 ($3,500,000) and re-assessment of the tenement in Year 5 
($250,000). 
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Note 25.  Commitments (continued) 
 

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 

 
Future operating lease rentals are not provided for in the financial statements and payable: 
 
  Consolidated 
  2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Within one year  78,733 19,801 
After one year but not more than five years  102,552 - 

 
 

  
181,285 

 
19,801 

    

 
Note 26. Parent Entity Disclosures 

 
Information relating to Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd 
 
  Parent 
  2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Current assets  2,351,200 2,670,909 
Total assets  7,598,963 9,425,459 
Current liabilities  124,814 122,912 
Total liabilities  133,251 122,912 
Contributed equity  30,913,043 29,108,708 
Accumulated losses  (23,524,722) (19,883,552) 
Share-based payments reserve  77,391 77,391 

 
Total shareholders‟ equity 

  
7,465,712 

 
9,302,547 

    
Loss of the parent entity  (3,641,170) (4,369,935) 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) of the parent entity  (3,641,170) (4,369,935) 
    
The parent has permit work commitments of $17,563,000 and non-cancellable operating lease commitments of 
$181,285.  Refer to Note 25 for further details of the liability. 
 
 

Note 27.  Segment Information 
 
For management purposes there is only one operating segment, which is exploration.   
 
The chief operating decision maker only reviews consolidated financial information.  The chief operating decision 
maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segment, has been 
identified as the Board.  
 
The Board does not currently receive segment Statement of Financial Position and Statement of Comprehensive 
Income information.  The Board manages each exploration activity of each permit through review and approval of 
joint venture cash calls, AFE‟s and other operational information. 
 
The consolidated entity operates in the petroleum exploration industry within Australia. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

 

Note 28.  Reconciliation of Cash flows from Operating Activities 

 
For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand and at bank, and short term deposits 
at call. 
 
Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash provided/used in operating activities 
 

  Consolidated 
  2013 2012 
  $ $ 
Net loss before tax  (3,590,369) (4,331,144) 
    
Adjustments for:    
Depreciation  13,568 19,341 
Amortisation  - 11,199 
Impairment of intangibles  123,251 - 
Loss on disposal of fixed assets  273 682 
Write-down in exploration  1,751,280 4,114,095 

  (1,701,997) (185,827) 
    
Changes in assets and liabilities    
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables and 
other current assets 

  
514,743 

 
(489,077) 

(Increase)/decrease in prepayments  (12,733) 5,070 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  19,704 (53,991) 
(Decrease)/increase in provisions  (9,365) 21,812 

 
Net cash flows used in operating activities 

  
(1,189,648) 

 
(702,013) 

    
 

Note 29. Contingent Liabilities 
 
The Consolidated Entity has negotiated a number of bank guarantees in favour of various government authorities 
and service providers. The total nominal amount of these guarantees at balance date is $54,054 (2012: $52,510). 
 
 

Note 30. Events after Balance Date 
 
On 31 July the Group announced that it had executed farm-in agreements for two of it‟s Gippsland Basin permits, 
Vic/P41 & Vic/P68, with Cooper Energy Ltd. Cooper Energy would be assigned a 25.8% interest in Vic/P41 and 
have the option to acquire a 50% interest in Vic/P68 in exchange for funding the Group‟s current work 
commitments. The agreement remains subject to a number of conditions, including Government and Joint Venture 
approvals. In addition to these conditions, the agreement is subject to any applicable regulatory requirements 
under the Corporations Act and ASX Listing Rules for transactions of this nature. 
 
On 26 August 2013 the petroleum permit PEP 150 was awarded in the onshore Otway Basin.  BAS has a 15% 
interest in the new permit which is operated by Beach Petroleum Ltd. 
 
On 17 September 2013, the Company has applied for a suspension and extension of the Year 4 work program with 
the National Offshore Petroleum Titles Administrator for Vic/P42.  This was in conjunction with the Company 
signing a Collaboration Agreement with HiRex Petroleum Sdn Bhd on 18 August 2013 to progress further studies 
in Vic/P42, prior to committing to the Year 5 work program which includes drilling one exploration well.  
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Independent auditor's report to the members of Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd 

Report on the financial report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd, which comprises the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2013, the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information, and the directors' declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the 
company and the entities it controlled at the year's end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors' responsibility for the financial report 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for 
such internal controls as the directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 2(a), the directors 
also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, that 
the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor's responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity's preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's 
internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001.  We have given to the directors of the company a written Auditor’s Independence Declaration, a 
copy of which is included in the directors’ report.  
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Opinion 
In our opinion: 

a. the financial report of Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including: 

i giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June 2013 
and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

ii  complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; 
and 

b. the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 
Note 2(a). 

Emphasis of Matter 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2(c) Going Concern, which sets out the basis by 
which the Directors believe the consolidated entity will be able to continue as a going concern, including 
the ability of the consolidated entity to take the appropriate steps as set out in Note 2(c) to raise further 
funding or vary expenditure commitments.  However, if further funding is not available or expenditure 
commitments are not able to be varied, there is a material uncertainty whether the consolidated entity 
will continue as a going concern beyond September 2014, and therefore whether it will realise its assets 
and extinguish its liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial 
report. The financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability, in particular 
the carrying value of capitalised exploration and evaluation costs, and classification of recorded asset 
amounts or to the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the consolidated 
entity not continue as a going concern. 

Report on the remuneration report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the directors' report for the year ended 30 June 
2013. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the 
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Bass Strait Oil Company Ltd for the year ended 30 June 
2013, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 
Ernst & Young 
 

 
Matthew A. Honey 
Partner 
Melbourne 
26 September 2013 
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SHAREHOLDER AND OTHER INFORMATION 

Compiled as at 11 October 2013 

 

DISTRIBUTION OF ORDINARY SHARES 
 
Numbers of members by size of holding and the total number of shares on issue: 
 

 Ordinary Shares No. of Holders No. of Shares 

 
 1 – 1,000 202 65,124 
 1,001 – 5,000 357 1,028,809 
 5,001 – 10,000 244 2,054,608 
 10,001 – 100,000 869 35,478,043 
 100,001 and over 411 479,659,163 
 

 
TOTAL ON ISSUE 2,083 518,285,747 
 

 
1,378 holders held less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares.  There is no current on-market buy-back. 
 
 

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 
 
As disclosed in notices given to the Company. 
 

Name of Substantial Shareholders Interest in Number of Shares  % of Shares 

 Beneficial and non-beneficial  

 
Cooper Energy Ltd 103,139,008 19.90 
Oil Basins Limited 89,154,215 17.20 
Adelaide Equity Partners Limited 31,838,962 6.14 
 

 
 
 

VOTING RIGHTS 
 
At meetings of members or classes of members: 
 
(a) each member entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy, attorney or representative; 
 
(b) on a show of hands, every person present who is a member or a proxy, attorney or representative of a 

member has one vote; and 
 
(c) on a poll, every person present who is a member or a proxy, attorney or representative of a member has: 
 
 (i) for each fully paid share held by him, or in respect of which he is appointed a proxy, attorney or 

representative, one vote for the share; 
 
 (ii) for each partly paid share, only the fraction of one vote which the amount paid (not credited) on the 

share bears to the total amounts paid and payable on the share (excluding amounts credited), 
  

 subject to any rights or restrictions attached to any shares or class or classes of shares. 
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SHAREHOLDER AND OTHER INFORMATION (Continued) 
Compiled as at 11 October 2013 
 

 

THE 20 LARGEST HOLDERS OF ORDINARY SHARES 
 

Holder Ordinary Shares % of Total Issued 

 
Somerton Energy Ltd 103,139,008 19.90 

Oil Basins Limited 89,154,215 17.20 

South Australian Resource Investments Pty Ltd 27,772,154 5.36 

Icon Holdings Pty Ltd 8,912,428 1.72 

Magellan Petroleum Corporation 8,024,928 1.55 

Mr M A Tkocz 7,126,666 1.38 

Small Business Finance Pty Ltd  7,000,000 1.35 

Crescent Nominees Pty Ltd 4,222,143 0.81 

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Ltd 4,105,044 0.79 

G J Alt Pty Ltd 4,000,000 0.77 

Mr H J Jaminon & Ms C Alcock 4,000,000 0.77 

Mr J A & Mrs L Innes  4,000,000 0.77 

Black Prince Pty Ltd 4,000,000 0.77 

Chesser Investments Pty Ltd  4,000,000 0.77 

Citicorp Nominees Pty Ltd 3,489,594 0.67 

Mr B & Mrs H A Wheelahan 3,428,623 0.66 

Toltec Holdings Pty Ltd 3,300,000 0.64 

Mr W Grove 3,243,212 0.63 

Davco Group Pty Ltd 3,130,000 0.60 

Mr A Condous 3,000,000 0.58 

         

 
The 20 largest shareholders hold 299,048,015 shares representing 57.69% of the issued share capital. 
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